WHO/HEP/ECH/WSH/2021.6

Nickel in drinking-water

Background document for development of WHO *Guidelines for drinking-water quality*

This document replaces document reference number WHO/SDE/WSH/05.08/55



WHO/HEP/ECH/WSH/2021.6

© World Health Organization 2021

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Nickel in drinking-water. Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for drinking-water quality Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (WHO/HEP/ECH/WSH/2021.6). Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Preface

Access to safe drinking-water is essential to health, a basic human right and a component of effective policy for health protection. A major World Health Organization (WHO) function to support access to safe drinking-water is the responsibility "to propose ... regulations, and to make recommendations with respect to international health matters ...", including those related to the safety and management of drinking-water.

The first WHO document dealing specifically with public drinking-water quality was published in 1958 as *International standards for drinking-water*. It was revised in 1963 and 1971 under the same title. In 1984–1985, the first edition of the WHO *Guidelines for drinking-water quality* (GDWQ) was published in three volumes: Volume 1, Recommendations; Volume 2, Health criteria and other supporting information; and Volume 3, Surveillance and control of community supplies. Second editions of these volumes were published in 1993, 1996 and 1997, respectively. Addenda to Volumes 1 and 2 of the second edition were published in 1998, addressing selected chemicals. An addendum on microbiological aspects, reviewing selected microorganisms, was published in 2002. The third edition of the GDWQ was published in 2004, the first addendum to the third edition was published in 2006, and the second addendum to the third edition was published in 2011, and the first addendum to the fourth edition was published in 2017.

The GDWQ are subject to a rolling revision process. Through this process, microbial, chemical and radiological aspects of drinking-water are subject to periodic review, and documentation relating to aspects of protection and control of drinking-water quality is accordingly prepared and updated.

Since the first edition of the GDWQ, WHO has published information on health criteria and other information to support the GDWQ, describing the approaches used in deriving guideline values, and presenting critical reviews and evaluations of the effects on human health of the substances or contaminants of potential health concern in drinking-water. In the first and second editions, these constituted Volume 2 of the GDWQ. Since publication of the third edition, they comprise a series of free-standing monographs, including this one.

For each chemical contaminant or substance considered, a background document evaluating the risks to human health from exposure to that chemical in drinking-water was prepared. The draft health criteria document was submitted to a number of scientific institutions and selected experts for peer review. The draft document was also released to the public domain for comment. Comments were carefully considered and addressed, as appropriate, taking into consideration the processes outlined in the *Policies and procedures used in updating the WHO guidelines for drinking-water quality* and the WHO *Handbook for guideline development*.

The revised draft was submitted for final evaluation at expert consultations.

During preparation of background documents and at expert consultations, careful consideration was given to information available in previous risk assessments carried out by the International Programme on Chemical Safety, in its Environmental Health Criteria monographs and Concise International Chemical Assessment Documents; the International Agency for Research on Cancer; the Joint Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)/WHO Meeting on Pesticide Residues; and the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (which evaluates contaminants such as lead, cadmium, nitrate and nitrite, in addition to food additives).

Further up-to-date information on the GDWQ and the process of their development is available on the WHO website and in the current edition of the GDWQ.

Acknowledgements

The background document on nickel in drinking-water for the development of the WHO <u>Guidelines for drinking-water quality</u> (GDWQ) was prepared by Dr Akihiko Hirose of the National Institute of Health Sciences of Japan, under the coordination of WHO as described further below. The support of Dr Mika Takahashi, formerly of the National Institute of Health Sciences of Japan, in the preparation of this document is also gratefully acknowledged.

The work of the following experts was crucial in the development of this document and others in the second addendum to the fourth edition:

Dr M Asami, National Institute of Public Health, Japan

Dr RJ Bevan, independent consultant, United Kingdom

Mr R Carrier, Health Canada, Canada

Dr J Cotruvo, Joseph Cotruvo & Associates and NSF International WHO Collaborating Centre, United States of America

Dr D Cunliffe, South Australian Department of Health, Australia

Dr A Eckhardt, Umweltbundesamt (Federal Environment Agency), Germany

Professor JK Fawell, Cranfield University, United Kingdom

Dr A Hirose, National Institute of Health Sciences of Japan

Dr A Humpage, University of Adelaide (formerly South Australian Water Corporation), Australia

Dr P Marsden, Drinking Water Inspectorate, United Kingdom

Professor Y Matsui, Hokkaido University, Japan

Dr E Ohanian, Environmental Protection Agency, United States of America

Professor CN Ong, National University of Singapore, Singapore

Dr J Strong, formerly Environmental Protection Agency, United States of America

Dr E Testai, National Institute of Health, Italy

The draft text was discussed at the expert consultations for the second addendum to the fourth edition of the GDWQ, held on 28–30 March 2017, 13–14 July 2018 and 2 March 2021. The final version of the document takes into consideration comments from both peer reviewers and the public, including V Bhat, formerly NSF International, United States of America; J Donohue, United States Environmental Protection Agency; B Lampe, NSF International, United States of America; F Lemieux, Health Canada; M Templeton, Imperial College London, United Kingdom; M Zemlyanova, Federal Scientific Center for Medical and Preventive Health Risk Management Technologies, Russia; and K Ziegler-Skylakakis, Technical University of Munich, Germany.

The coordinator was Ms J De France, WHO. Strategic direction was provided by Mr B Gordon, WHO. Dr E Petersen, formerly of WHO, and Dr P Verger, WHO, provided liaisons with the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives and the Joint FAO/WHO Meeting on Pesticide Residues. Dr R Brown and Ms C Vickers, WHO, provided liaisons with the International Programme on Chemical Safety. Dr M Perez contributed on behalf of the WHO Radiation Programme. Dr Andina Faragher, Biotext, Australia, was responsible for the scientific editing of the document.

Many individuals from various countries contributed to the development of the GDWQ. The efforts of all who contributed to the preparation of this document are greatly appreciated.

Acronyms and abbreviations

BMD benchmark dose

BMDL $_{10}$ 95% lower confidence limit on the benchmark dose for a 10% response BMDU $_{10}$ 95% upper confidence limit on the benchmark dose for a 10% response

bw body weight

CI confidence interval

CONTAM Panel Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (European Food Safety Authority)

EFSA European Food Safety Authority

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

GDWQ Guidelines for drinking-water quality

GV guideline value

LOAEL lowest-observed-adverse-effect level

 $\begin{array}{ll} MOE & margin of exposure \\ NiCl_2 & nickel chloride \\ NiO & nickel oxide \\ NiS & nickel sulfide \\ Ni_3S_2 & nickel subsulfide \\ NiSO_4 & nickel sulfate \\ \end{array}$

NiSO₄·6H₂O nickel sulfate hexahydrate

NOAEL no-observed-adverse-effect level

OR odds ratio

SCD systemic contact dermatitis
USA United States of America
WHO World Health Organization

Contents

Exe	Executive summary1				
1	Gene	eral description	2		
	1.1	Identity	2		
	1.2	Physicochemical properties	2		
	1.3	Organoleptic properties	2		
	1.4	Major uses and sources	2		
2	Environmental levels and human exposure3				
	2.1	Water	3		
	2.2	Food	5		
	2.3	Air	7		
	2.4	Bioaccumulation	7		
	2.5	Biomonitoring studies	8		
	2.6	Estimated total exposure and relative contribution of drinking-water	8		
3	Toxi	cokinetics and metabolism in animals and humans	9		
	3.1	Absorption	9		
	3.2	Distribution	10		
	3.3	Metabolism	10		
	3.4	Elimination	10		
4	Effec	cts on humans	10		
	4.1	Acute effects	10		
	4.2	Reproductive and developmental effects	11		
	4.3	Immunological effects	13		
	4.4	Genotoxicity and carcinogenicity	15		
5	Effects on experimental animals and in vitro systems16				
	5.1	Acute exposure	16		
	5.2	Short-term exposure	16		
	5 3	Long-term exposure	16		

		5.3.1 Systemic effects	16
		5.3.2 Neurological effects	17
		5.3.3 Reproductive and developmental effects	17
		5.3.4 Genotoxicity and carcinogenicity	19
	5.4	Mode of action	20
	5.5	Other effects	21
6	Overall database and quality of evidence		22
	6.1	Summary of health effects	22
	6.2	Quality of evidence	22
7	Practical aspects		
	7.1	Analytical methods and achievability	23
	7.2	Source control	23
	7.3	Treatment methods and performance	23
8	Conclusion		23
	8.1	Derivation of the guideline value	23
	8.2	Considerations in applying the guideline value	25
Rofe	rences		26

Executive summary

Nickel is a naturally occurring element. Food is the main source of nickel exposure in nonsmokers who are not exposed in occupational settings. However, drinking-water may become a significant source when nickel leaches from metal alloys that are in contact with the water. Elevated nickel in drinking-water can also result from heavy pollution or mobilization from natural deposits in rocks and soils to groundwater. Toxicity data for water-soluble nickel salts are the most relevant to assessing potential health risks from nickel exposure through drinking-water.

Human oral exposure to nickel is primarily associated with gastrointestinal and neurological symptoms after acute exposure. Exposure through skin or by inhalation may lead to nickel sensitization. Oral exposure to nickel is not known to lead to sensitization. However, individuals sensitized to nickel through skin contact and who have allergic contact dermatitis may develop eczematous flare-up reactions in the skin (systemic contact dermatitis – SCD) from a single oral exposure to nickel salts.

A health-based value of $80 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ for nickel was derived for chronic oral exposure based on reproductive and developmental toxicity in rats. These effects were identified as being the most sensitive human-relevant effects identified from the animal data, and some corresponding toxicological effects were suggested in recent human studies.

For the acute exposure assessment, the margin of exposure (MOE) values derived from the lowest-observed-adverse-effect level (0.3 mg/day) associated with SCD and the upper-bound acute dietary exposure (high-nickel-content food) ranged from 0.3 to 2.3 across dietary surveys, and raise a health concern for nickel-sensitized individuals. However, acute consumption of water containing nickel at the chronic health-based value of $80~\mu g/L$ would result in an MOE of approximately 16. Further, considering that SCD elicitation was associated with a bolus exposure, in contrast to the intermittent nature of drinking-water exposure, the chronic health-based value of $80~\mu g/L$ is determined to be adequately protective of SCD that may result from acute exposure.

In the current assessment, the existing guideline value (GV) of $70~\mu g/L$ is retained, as the difference between the health-based value of $80~\mu g/L$ and the existing GV of $70~\mu g/L$ is not considered significant enough to warrant a minimal relaxing of the GV. Furthermore, the existing GV is still considered to be adequately protective of human health, and is further supported by available source control measures, current treatment technologies, and measurability by analytical methods. As the major source of nickel in drinking-water is leaching from stainless steel devices or materials used in water supply systems or nickel- or chromium-plated taps used in plumbing, flushing the tap before drinking, particularly after periods of stagnation, is recommended for nickel-sensitive people. The most important means of control is by product specifications delivered through an appropriate certification scheme for materials in contact with drinking-water.

1 General description

1.1 Identity

Nickel is a naturally occurring, lustrous white, hard, ferromagnetic metal that is ubiquitous in the environment. It occurs naturally in five isotopic forms: 58 (67.8%), 60 (26.2%), 61 (1.2%), 62 (3.7%) and 64 (1.2%).

1.2 Physicochemical properties

Some physicochemical properties of nickel are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Physicochemical properties of nickel

Property	Value
Boiling point	2837 °C
Melting point	1555 °C
Density	$8.90 \text{ g/cm}^3 \text{ at } 25 ^{\circ}\text{C}$

Nickel usually has two valence electrons, but oxidation states of +1, +3 or +4 may also exist. Metallic nickel is not affected by water, but is slowly attacked by dilute hydrochloric or sulfuric acid and is readily attacked by nitric acid. Fused alkali hydroxides do not attack nickel. Several nickel salts, including the acetate, chloride, nitrate and sulfate salts, are soluble in water. Carbonates and hydroxides of nickel are far less soluble, and sulfides, disulfides, subsulfides and oxides are practically insoluble in water. Alloys of nickel containing more than 13% chromium are largely protected from corrosion in many media by the presence of a surface film consisting mainly of chromium oxide (Morgan & Flint, 1989; Haudrechy et al., 1994).

Nickel oxide (NiO) has two forms: a black crystalline form (Antonsen, 1981) with a nickel content of 76–77%, and a more stable, green form with a nickel content of 78.5%. Nickel ammonium sulfate (Ni(NH₄)₂(SO₄)₂), nickel chloride (NiCl₂) and nickel nitrate (Ni(NO₃)₂) usually exist as hexahydrates, whereas nickel acetate, nickel cyanide and nickel sulfamate are in the form of tetrahydrates (ATSDR, 2005).

1.3 Organoleptic properties

Nickel and its compounds have no characteristic odour or taste. Taste or odour thresholds for nickel compounds in water were not identified (ATSDR, 2005).

1.4 Major uses and sources

Nickel is used mainly in the production of stainless steels, nonferrous alloys and super alloys. Other uses of nickel and nickel salts are in electroplating, as catalysts, in nickel–cadmium batteries, in coins, in welding products, and in certain pigments and electronic products (IARC, 1990). It is estimated that 8% of nickel is used for household appliances (IPCS, 1991). Nickel is also incorporated in some food supplements, which can contain several micrograms of nickel per tablet (EU, 2008).

Nickel enters ambient waters primarily as nickel-containing particulate matter carried by rainwater, and through the degradation or dissolution of nickel-containing rocks and soils (IPCS, 1991). The main anthropogenic sources of nickel in water are primarily nickel

production, metallurgical processes, combustion and incineration of fossil fuels, chemical and catalyst production, and discharges of industrial and municipal wastes (EFSA, 2015). The primary source of nickel in drinking-water is leaching from metals that are in contact with drinking-water, such as in pipes and fittings.

Nickel is used principally in its metallic form, combined with other metals and non-metals as alloys. Nickel alloys are characterized by their hardness, strength, and resistance to corrosion and heat.

2 Environmental levels and human exposure

Environmental exposure to nickel of anthropogenic origin occurs locally from, among other sources, emissions of metal mining, smelting and refining operations; industrial activities (e.g. nickel plating, alloy manufacturing); land disposal of sludges, solids and slags; and disposal of effluents (IPCS, 1991). In general, nickel is found in the environment in a wide variety of chemical forms, and concentrations are highly variable, reflecting the influence of nickel emissions from different types of sources (EFSA, 2015).

2.1 Water

Nickel occurs predominantly as the ion nickel hexahydrate (Ni(H₂O)₆²⁺) in natural waters at pH 5–9 (IPCS, 1991). Complexes with ligands, such as hydroxide (OH⁻), sulfate (SO₄²⁻), bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻), chloride (Cl⁻) and ammonia (NH₃), are formed to a minor degree in this pH range. Nickel that has leached from nickel- or chromium-plated fittings is expected to be in a similar form.

Nickel concentrations in groundwater depend on the soil use, pH and depth of sampling. The average concentration in groundwater in the Netherlands ranges from 7.9 μ g/L (urban areas) to 16.6 μ g/L (rural areas). Acid rain increases the mobility of nickel in the soil and thus might increase nickel concentrations in groundwater (IPCS, 1991). In groundwater with a pH below 6.2, nickel concentrations up to 980 μ g/L have been measured (RIVM, 1994). Concentrations of nickel in pristine surface waters may be so low as to be near the limits of detection of current analytical methods (ATSDR, 2005).

Nickel concentrations in tap water can be influenced by the origin of the water (surface water, groundwater, geological layer), its subsequent treatment process, piping and tap material, and stagnation time. Some evidence suggests that corrosion of stainless steel pipes in domestic water distribution systems contributes nickel to water drawn from taps, especially during the first draw (De Brouwere et al., 2012).

In Canada, surveys of drinking-water supplies conducted between 1985 and 1988 in northern Alberta and the Atlantic provinces found that mean nickel concentrations were $2.1–2.3~\mu g/L$ (Health Canada, 1994). Mean concentrations were $0.2–7.2~\mu g/L$ in a survey of 96 plants across Ontario, with the exception of those in Sudbury (Health Canada, 1994). In the Sudbury area, drinking-water sampled between 1972 and 1992 had markedly higher mean concentrations of $26–300~\mu g/L$. The median nickel concentrations in both treated and distributed provincial drinking-water measured in an extensive national survey of many Canadian municipalities were $\leq 0.6–1.3~\mu g/L$ for treated water and $1.8~\mu g/L$ for distributed water; the maximum value was $72.4~\mu g/L$ (ATSDR, 2005). Nickel levels in tap water from British Columbia, Prince Edward Island, the Yukon and the Northwest Territories were below the detection limit.

Potable tap water in the USA generally contains nickel at concentrations of 0.55–25 μ g/L (ATSDR, 2005; OEHHA, 2012). In a Seattle (Washington) study, mean and maximum nickel levels in standing water were 7.0 μ g/L and 43 μ g/L, respectively, compared with 2.0 μ g/L and 28 μ g/L in running water (ATSDR, 2005). Nickel concentrations in tap water measured in the United States Total Diet Study 1991–1999 ranged from 0 to 25 μ g/L, with a mean value of 2 μ g/L. Analysis of data obtained during 1995–1997 from the National Human Exposure Assessment Study yielded median concentrations of nickel in tap water (used as drinkingwater) of 4.3 μ g/L (90th percentile 10.6 μ g/L) in the Arizona study, and 4.0 μ g/L (90th percentile 11 μ g/L) in the United States Environmental Protection Agency Region 5 (Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, Minnesota, Ohio and Wisconsin) study. According to monitoring data collected by the California Department of Health Services between 1984 and 1997, the highest, average and median concentrations of nickel in water were 540 μ g/L, 26 μ g/L and 17.9 μ g/L, respectively.

In Australia, nickel concentrations in drinking-water are typically <10 $\mu g/L$. In Sampleton, Australia, the mean nickel concentration in drinking-water sampled between January 2002 and December 2005 was 30 $\mu g/L$ (range <10–220 $\mu g/L$); the concentrations intermittently exceeded the *Australian drinking water guidelines* value for nickel of 20 $\mu g/L$ (Alam, Corbett & Ptolemy, 2008).

In Europe, drinking-water generally contains nickel at concentrations <10 µg/L (IPCS, 1991; ANSES, 2005; Cempel & Nikel, 2006; WHO, 2007; Bertoldi et al., 2011; De Brouwere et al., 2012). Concentrations up to 13 µg/L have been reported (IARC, 1990; WHO, 2000). In 2020, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) evaluated the results of several European surveys of nickel in drinking-water, which collectively included 17 831 quantified samples that were analysed between 2009 and 2018, with the majority of the samples collected between 2009 and 2011. Approximately 73% of the samples were collected in Germany, and approximately 19% were collected from Cyprus and Slovakia, with the remaining samples collected elsewhere in Europe. The results for each sample were reported as lower and upper bounds. Mean lower and upper bounds for all samples were 2 and 3 µg/L, respectively, and 95th percentile lower and upper bounds were 7 µg/L for both parameters. In the United Kingdom, median concentrations of nickel in drinking-water were reported for England/Wales, Northern Ireland and Scotland at 1.36, 1.14 and 0.3 µg/L, respectively (COT, 2018). The 97.5th percentile concentrations of nickel in drinking-water in these three regions were 4.63, 4.47 and 1.95 µg/L, respectively. Nickel levels <1 µg/L have been reported from Denmark and Finland (Punsar et al., 1975; Gammelgaard & Andersen, 1985). Average dissolved nickel concentrations in surface water in the rivers Rhine and Meuse were <7 µg/L (RIWA, 1994).

Increased nickel concentrations in groundwater and municipal tap water ($100-2500~\mu g/L$) were reported in polluted areas and areas where natural nickel was mobilized (McNeely, Nechay & Sunderman, 1972). After smelter emissions decreased in the early to mid-1970s, nickel concentrations in potable water of Sudbury substantially decreased by the early 1980s (Hopfer, Fay & Sunderman, 1989). Water left standing overnight in plumbing fittings plated with chromium on a base of nickel contained a nickel concentration up to 490 $\mu g/L$, but low values were obtained after flushing; there was considerable variation at different times and from tap to tap (Andersen et al., 1983).

Certain stainless steel well materials were identified as the source of increased nickel concentrations in groundwater wells in Arizona, USA. Mean nickel levels were 8–395 μ g/L; in some cases, nickel levels were in the range 1–5 mg/L (Oakley & Korte, 1996).

Leaching of nickel from new stainless steel pipework into drinking-water diminished after a few weeks. Chromium was rarely found in the water, indicating that the leakage of nickel was attributable to passive leaching of nickel ions from the surface of the pipes, rather than a corrosive process (Schwenk, 1992). Concentrations of nickel leaching from new stainless steel pipes used for drinking-water were $<6\,\mu\text{g/L}$ (Nickel Development Institute, personal communication, 2004). Higher concentration can occur if pipes are assembled with tinned copper and gunmetal fittings. Fittings, such as taps, that are chromium plated release much higher concentrations, which decrease significantly with time (EU, 2008). First-draw water from chromium-plated taps can show elevated nickel concentrations due to the exposed nickel-plated base inside the tap.

Nickel concentrations in bottled mineral water depend on the source of the water and any treatment applied. Levels of nickel in a selection of bottled mineral waters were below the detection limit of 25 μ g/L based on the analytical method applied (Allen, Halley-Henderson & Hass, 1989). In a survey of the chemical composition of 571 European bottled mineral waters marketed in 23 European countries, nickel was above the detection limit of 1.9 μ g/L (based on the analytical method applied) in less than 12% of samples (median <1.9 μ g/L; 90th percentile 2.2 μ g/L); only two samples exceeded the European Commission limit of 20 μ g/L, reaching the maximum of 30.3 μ g/L (Bertoldi et al., 2011).

2.2 Food

Since nickel is usually measured in food as total nickel, the chemical form is not specified. Nickel in food is normally considered to be in the form of complex bound organic nickel (EU, 2008). Nickel levels in food have been reported to be generally in the range of 0.01–0.1 mg/kg, but there are large variations (Booth, 1990; Jorhem & Sundström, 1993; Dabeka & McKenzie, 1995; Fødevaredirektoratet, 2000). Foods with high nickel content are mostly of plant-based origin, compared with foods of animal origin such as meat, fish and honey, which have lower nickel concentrations (Babaahmadifooladi et al., 2020). Higher median levels of nickel (0.1-0.4 mg/kg) were found in wholemeal products (Smart & Sherlock, 1987; Fødevaredirektoratet, 2000), and markedly higher levels (1–6 mg/kg) were found in beans, seeds, nuts and wheat bran (Smart & Sherlock, 1987; Jorhem & Sundström, 1993). Even higher nickel levels (8-12 mg/kg) were found in cacao (Smart & Sherlock, 1987). More recently, the EFSA Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (CONTAM Panel) reviewed literature and concluded that, in general, foods contained less than 0.5 mg nickel/kg (EFSA, 2015). In this assessment, the CONTAM Panel used a dataset of 18 885 food samples (2003–2012, in 15 European Union countries), and high mean levels of nickel were reported for "legumes, nuts and oilseeds" (~2 mg/kg), certain types of cocoa products (3.8 mg/kg), and "cocoa beans and cocoa products" (9.5 mg/kg) (EFSA, 2015). In 2020, data from 43 915 food samples (2000-2019, in 26 European Union counties) were obtained; overall, the results reported in the scientific literature are in line with the concentrations reported to EFSA (EFSA, 2020).

Nickel may be released from food contact materials, including packaging material, cooking utensils and storage containers, which may result in additional exposure. Stainless steel cooking utensils (e.g. oven pans, roasting pans) contributed markedly to the levels of nickel in cooked food; nickel levels sometimes exceeded 1 mg/kg in meat (Dabeka & McKenzie, 1995), although there may be some questions regarding analytical contamination in this study. In contrast, Flint & Packirisamy (1995) found only minor increases in nickel concentrations in acid foodstuffs when new stainless steel pans were used. In general, concentrations of nickel following migration are in the same order of magnitude as concentrations reported to occur in food. Differences are observed between studies, which may reflect a difference in quality of

food contact materials. The available database is too limited to draw up a scenario on dietary exposure to nickel resulting from food contact material (EFSA, 2020).

As part of the 2014 Total Diet Study conducted by the United Kingdom Food Standards Agency, food and drink samples representing 28 food categories were collected from 24 locations throughout the United Kingdom and were analysed for nickel content (COT, 2014). The results from these assays were combined with data from the United Kingdom National Diet and Nutrition Survey to identify mean and upper-bound estimates of exposure to inorganic elements in food for various age groups. According to the results of the analysis, the mean nickel intakes from food in the United Kingdom were 4.4-5.2 µg/kg body weight (bw)/day for children aged 1.5-3 years, 2.1-2.2 µg/kg bw/day for individuals aged 11-18 years, and 1.7–1.9 µg/kg bw/day for individuals aged 19 years to adulthood (the total mean exposure estimate for children aged 4–10 years was not provided in the available data report). The upper-bound (97.5th percentile) exposure estimates for nickel in food were 7.1–8.1 µg/kg bw/day for children aged 1.5–3 years, 6.5–7.3 µg/kg bw/day for children aged 4–10 years, 4.0– 4.2 μg/kg bw/day for individuals aged 11–18 years, and 3.2–3.4 μg/kg bw/day for individuals aged 19 years to adulthood. Previously, other publications have reported that daily dietary intakes of nickel were 0.14-0.15 mg in the United Kingdom in 1981-1984 (Smart & Sherlock, 1987), 0.082 mg in Sweden in 1987 (Becker & Kumpulainen, 1991), 0.16 mg (mean; 95th percentile 0.27 mg) in Denmark (Fødevaredirektoratet, 2000) and 0.16 mg in the USA (Myron et al., 1978). In the United Kingdom, population dietary intakes of nickel have decreased since 1976, when they were 0.33 mg/day (COT, 2008).

In a Canadian study, the mean dietary intakes of nickel for various age groups were reported as 0.038 mg/day in 0–12-month-old infants (on average, 0.005 mg/kg bw/day), 0.19 mg/day in 1–4-year-old children, 0.275 mg/day in 20–39-year-old women and 0.406 mg/day in 20–39-year-old men (Dabeka & McKenzie, 1995). Infants fed evaporated milk were exposed to 0.004 mg/kg bw/day, whereas infants fed soy-based formula were exposed to 0.010 mg/kg bw/day (Dabeka, 1989). The United States Food and Drug Administration estimated an intake of 0.134 mg/day based on data from the north-eastern part of the USA (US FDA, 2000).

Because nuts and beans are important sources of protein for vegetarians, this subpopulation can be expected to have a markedly higher intake of nickel than that reported in the studies cited above. The nickel intake of eight volunteers ingesting normal diets averaged 0.13 mg/day (range 0.06–0.26 mg/day), compared with 0.07 mg/day (range 0.02–0.14 mg/day) when diets containing low nickel levels were consumed. When food rich in nickel was ingested, the daily intake was 0.25 mg/day (range 0.07–0.48 mg/day) (Veien & Andersen, 1986). A duplicate-diet study of vegetarians in the United Kingdom indicated an average dietary intake of nickel of 0.17 mg/day (FSA, 2000). This was confirmed by the United Kingdom 2006 duplicate-diet study, which showed a small decline in exposure (COT, 2008).

Chronic exposure estimates were calculated for 44 different dietary surveys carried out in 23 European countries. The mean and the high (95th percentile) chronic dietary exposures were calculated by combining nickel mean occurrence values for food and drinking-water samples collected in different countries (pooled European occurrence data) with the average daily consumption of each food at individual level in each dietary survey. The highest estimated chronic dietary exposure to nickel was in young age groups. For the mean dietary exposure in the total population, the highest estimated lower-bound and upper-bound exposure levels were in toddlers, with a maximum exposure of 12.5 and 14.6 µg/kg bw/day, respectively. The

highest 95th percentile lower-bound and upper-bound exposure was observed for infants, with estimates of 28.1 and 29.9 µg/kg bw/day, respectively (EFSA, 2020).

Acute dietary exposure to nickel was estimated using a probabilistic approach based on the method of random sampling with replacement of occurrence data. The random sampling captures the variability in occurrence values. Forty-eight of the most recent dietary surveys carried out in 25 different European countries were used. Acute exposure was assessed for each reporting day by multiplying the total consumption amount for each food category by one upper-bound occurrence level randomly drawn among the individual results available for that food category. Mean upper-bound acute dietary exposure to nickel across the different dietary surveys and age classes ranged from 1.89 μ g/kg bw/day (in the "elderly", in a survey conducted in Greece) to 14.6 μ g/kg bw/day (in "toddlers", in a survey conducted in Belgium). The corresponding 95th percentile upper bound for acute dietary exposure ranged from 5.35 μ g/kg bw/day (in the "elderly", in a survey in Greece) to 40.8 μ g/kg bw/day (in "toddlers", in a survey in Belgium).

Therefore, the highest mean upper bounds for both acute and chronic exposure to nickel were observed in "toddlers". Average acute exposure estimations did not differ much from those calculated for chronic exposure. This can be explained by the fact that nickel is present in many different foods that are regularly consumed (EFSA, 2020).

Daily intakes of nickel in total diet (including drinking-water) were investigated in six cities in Japan (Ohno et. al., 2010). The average total daily intake was $156 \pm 35 \,\mu\text{g/day}$ (0.7 \pm 0.6 $\mu\text{g/day}$ for drinking-water), which corresponds to about 3 $\mu\text{g/kg}$ bw/day.

2.3 Air

Nickel concentrations in air in remote areas are in the range of 1-3 ng/m³ (IPCS, 1991), whereas concentrations in urban and industrialized areas can be up to tens or hundreds of ng/m³ (EFSA, 2015). In air, nickel occurs mostly as fine respirable particles that are removed by wet and dry deposition. Anthropogenic sources of airborne nickel account for more than 80% of the atmospheric nickel burden; the remainder is accounted for by natural sources. In rainwater, nickel concentrations are on average <1 μ g/L, although higher levels have been detected in some locations (EFSA, 2015). It has been estimated that non-occupational exposure via inhalation is 0.2–1.0 μ g/day in urban areas and 0.1–0.4 μ g/day in rural areas (Bennett, 1984). The mainstream smoke of one cigarette contains about 0.04–0.58 μ g of nickel (IARC, 1990).

2.4 Bioaccumulation

Nickel is not accumulated in significant amounts by aquatic organisms (Birge & Black, 1980; Zaroogian & Johnson, 1984). The concentration of nickel in a major carnivorous fish – the lake trout – in New York State, USA, did not increase appreciably with the age of the fish (Birge & Black, 1980). McGeer et al. (2003) assessed bioconcentration factors for nickel in various aquatic organisms (e.g. algae, arthropods, molluscs, fish), based on whole-body metal concentrations and exposure concentrations from the literature. There was no evidence that nickel biomagnifies in aquatic food webs. Two studies in voles and rabbits living on sludge-amended land did not indicate any accumulation of nickel in these herbivores or in the plants they ate (Dressler et al., 1986; Alberici et al., 1989).

The lack of significant bioaccumulation of nickel in aquatic organisms, voles and rabbits indicates that nickel is not biomagnified in the food chain (ATSDR, 2005).

2.5 Biomonitoring studies

Serum nickel levels of 1.5–19 μ g/L were found in patients undergoing regular haemodialysis (Hopfer, Fay & Sunderman, 1989; Nixon et al., 1989). Significantly higher serum nickel levels were observed in people exposed non-occupationally from a heavily nickel-polluted area compared with people living in a control area (nickel concentrations in tap water $109 \pm 46 \,\mu$ g/L vs $0.6 \pm 0.2 \,\mu$ g/L; serum nickel levels $0.6 \pm 0.3 \,\mu$ g/L vs $0.2 \pm 0.2 \,\mu$ g/L) (Hopfer, Fay & Sunderman, 1989).

Tentative reference values for nickel in serum and urine have been proposed: $0.2 \,\mu g/L$ or lower in serum, and $1-3 \,\mu g/L$ in urine of healthy adults (Templeton, Sunderman & Herber, 1994). After reviewing monitoring data in occupationally exposed workers, Ohashi et al. (2006) determined reference values for nickel in urine among women of the general population of 11 prefectures in Japan. The observed geometric mean for urinary nickel was $2.1 \,\mu g/L$ (range $<0.2-57 \,\mu g/L$), corresponding to $1.8 \,\mu g/L$ (maximum $144 \,\mu g/L$) after normalization by creatinine excretion. According to representative data on the internal nickel exposure of children aged 3-14 years from the German Environmental Survey (2003–2006), the urinary nickel levels (n=1576) ranged from <0.5 to $15 \,\mu g/L$; the geometric mean was $1.26 \,\mu g/L$ (Wilhelm et al., 2013).

2.6 Estimated total exposure and relative contribution of drinking-water

Food is the main source of nickel exposure in the nonsmoking, non-occupationally exposed population. According to the United Kingdom Total Diet Study, and assuming a typical adult body weight of 60 kg, the mean nickel exposure from food among individuals aged 19 to adulthood ranges from 0.102 to 0.114 mg/day (97.5th percentile ranging from 0.192 to 0.204 mg/day) (COT, 2014). Recent studies, including a United Kingdom study on vegetarians, indicate that the intake from food is probably less than 0.2 mg/day.

For both smokers and nonsmokers who are not occupationally exposed to nickel, exposure by inhalation may be expected to represent a negligible or minor addition to the daily exposure via the diet (EFSA, 2015; see section 2.3). The Committee on Toxicity (COT) estimated exposure to nickel from air for infants and young children, and calculated an exposure ranging from 0.00014 to $0.042~\mu g/kg$ bw/day. In addition, ingestion of dust and soil may add to the oral exposure to nickel. For example, in infants and young children, the COT (2018) estimated nickel exposures to range from 0.18 to $0.55~\mu g/kg$ bw/day from dust ingestion, and from 0.071 to $0.2~\mu g/kg$ bw/day from soil ingestion.

In England and Wales, median and 97.5th percentile concentrations for nickel in drinking-water were 1.36 and 4.63 μ g/L, respectively (COT, 2018), or only 0.003 and 0.009 mg/day assuming a drinking-water intake rate of 2 L per day. Based on earlier data, water generally contributes 0.005–0.025 mg daily (i.e. 2–11% of the total daily oral intake of nickel) (MAFF, 1985). These figures are similar to those presented in the European Union risk assessment for nickel (EU, 2008).

Overall, drinking-water appears to contribute only a minor proportion of daily intake of nickel; however, the proportion of ingested nickel absorbed is greater from drinking-water than from food.

Drinking-water will contribute a higher proportion of daily intake under some circumstances, such as when natural nickel concentrations in source water, particularly groundwater, are elevated, or when there is significant input from stainless steel devices or nickel- or chromium-

plated fittings such as taps. For nickel in source water, the exposure is potentially long term. In contrast, for nickel- or chromium-plated fittings, exposure is likely to be either shorter or more intermittent, reflecting the variation in the use of first-draw water, which would be likely to result in the highest concentrations.

3 Toxicokinetics and metabolism in animals and humans

3.1 Absorption

Nickel is poorly absorbed from diets. Absorbed nickel is rapidly cleared from serum (IPCS, 1991).

The mechanism for intestinal absorption of nickel is not clear. Iron deficiency increased intestinal nickel absorption in vitro and in vivo, indicating that nickel is partially absorbed by the active transfer system for iron absorption in intestinal mucosal cells (Tallkvist, Wing & Tjälve, 1994). In perfused rat jejunum, saturation of nickel uptake was observed at high concentrations of NiCl₂ (Foulkes & McMullen, 1986). Iron concentrations in rat tissues were increased by dietary nickel exposure (Whanger, 1973). Nickel is bound to a histidine complex, albumin and alpha-2-macroglobulin in serum (Sarkar, 1984).

Absorption of soluble nickel compounds from drinking-water is higher than absorption from food. After 24 hours, 10–34% of a single oral dose of water-soluble nickel compounds (NiSO₄, NiCl₂ or Ni(NO₃)₂) was absorbed, whereas less than 2% of a single oral dose of insoluble or scarcely soluble nickel compounds (NiO, Ni, Ni₃S₂ or NiS) was absorbed. It is not known if the animals in this study were fasted before treatment. The highest nickel concentrations were found in the kidneys and lungs; nickel concentrations in the liver were low (Ishimatsu et al., 1995).

Following a 12-hour fast, a volunteer ingested 20 μ g/kg bw of 61 Ni-enriched nickel as Ni(NO₃)₂ in 1 L of water. The serum nickel concentration peaked at 2 hours at 34 μ g/L. By 96 hours, 27% of the ingested dose was excreted in the urine (Templeton, Xu & Stuhne-Sekalec, 1994). These findings are consistent with observations of an absorption of 27% \pm 17% of a nickel dose (as NiSO₄) added to drinking-water in 10 volunteers after a 12-hour fast, versus a mean absorption of 0.7 \pm 0.4% when administered in food (Sunderman et al., 1989). Intestinal absorption was only 1% of the given dose when NiSO₄ was added to scrambled eggs. The half-time for absorbed nickel averaged 28 \pm 9 hours (Sunderman et al., 1989).

Plasma levels of nickel in fasting human subjects did not increase above fasting levels when 5 mg of nickel was added to an American breakfast or a Guatemalan meal rich in phytic acids (Solomons et al., 1982). The same amount of nickel added to water elevated the plasma nickel levels 4- to 7-fold. The absorption of nickel added to milk, tea, coffee or orange juice was significantly less than the absorption of nickel from water.

Two studies carried out to examine the influence of fasting and food intake on the absorption of nickel from drinking-water showed that a dose of 12 µg/kg bw given to fasted males in drinking-water was more rapidly absorbed if the dose was given 30 minutes or 1 hour before a meal of scrambled eggs than if given at the same time. The peak concentration in blood was also 13-fold higher. In a similar experiment in which ⁶¹Ni was given to 20 nickel-sensitized women and 20 age-matched controls, there was no difference in nickel absorption and excretion (Nielsen et al., 1999).

3.2 Distribution

Whole-body retention in mice after oral exposure to Ni²⁺ was less than 1% of the administered dose 5 days after exposure (Nielsen, Andersen & Jensen, 1993). Severa et al. (1995) observed an accumulation of nickel in organs of rats orally exposed to nickel in drinking-water at concentrations of 100 mg/L for 6 months. The nickel concentration in liver was 10 times higher in exposed rats than in unexposed rats; in the kidney, the nickel level was only twice as high in exposed rats as in unexposed rats. Nickel levels in the kidney and blood were similar. There was no increase in nickel levels in organs between 3 and 6 months of exposure.

Several reports indicate that transplacental transfer of nickel occurs in animals (IPCS, 1991). Elevated concentrations of nickel were detected in fetuses after intramuscular administration of NiCl₂ to pregnant rats. The fetal organ with the highest nickel concentration was the urinary bladder (Sunderman et al., 1978). In human studies, nickel has been detected in fetal tissues at levels similar to the levels found in adults (McNeely, Nechay & Sunderman, 1972; Casey & Robinson, 1978).

3.3 Metabolism

Once absorbed, elemental nickel is not anticipated to undergo any metabolism. The extracellular metabolism of nickel consists of ligand exchange reactions (Sarkar, 1984). In human serum, nickel binds to albumin, L-histidine and alpha-2-macroglobulin. Binding in animals is similar. In humans, rats and bovines, the principal binding locus of nickel to serum albumins is the histidine residue at the third position from the amino terminus (Hendel & Sunderman, 1972, as cited by ATSDR, 2005).

3.4 Elimination

Absorbed nickel is eliminated mainly in the faeces and to a lesser extent in urine (IPCS, 1991). Nielsen et al. (1999) reported that the cumulative median amount of nickel excreted in urine within 3 days after dosing was 2.26% (1.03–4.71%) when nickel was ingested together with food or mixed into food. Increasing amounts of nickel were excreted in the urine as the interval between intake of water and meal increased, with a cumulative median amount of 25.8% (25.00 \pm 11.02) excreted in urine when food was served 4 hours before ingestion of nickel-containing drinking-water. Biliary excretion of nickel subcutaneously administered to rats as NiCl₂ was less than 0.5% of the given dose (Marzouk & Sunderman, 1985). In studying a fatal case of human nickel intoxication, the authors concluded that biliary excretion of nickel was of minor importance in humans (Grandjean, Nielsen & Andersen, 1989). Nickel is also eliminated in the milk of lactating women. In studies reported in the USA, the nickel concentration in breast milk was around 15 μ g/kg (EU, 2008).

4 Effects on humans

4.1 Acute effects

A 2½-year-old girl died after ingesting about 15 g of NiSO₄ crystals. Cardiac arrest occurred after 4 hours; the autopsy revealed acute haemorrhagic gastritis (Daldrup, Haarhoff & Szathmary, 1983).

Thirty-two industrial workers accidentally drank water contaminated with NiSO₄ and NiCl₂ (nickel level of 1.63 g/L). Twenty workers developed symptoms, including nausea, vomiting, diarrhoea, giddiness, lassitude, headache and shortness of breath. The nickel doses in people

who developed symptoms were estimated to range from 7 to 35 mg/kg bw. In most cases, the symptoms lasted for a few hours, but they persisted for 1-2 days in seven cases. Transiently elevated levels of urine albumin, suggesting mild transient nephrotoxicity, were found in two workers 2-5 days after exposure. Mild hyperbilirubinaemia developed 3 days after exposure in two subjects, and elevated levels of blood reticulocytes were observed in seven workers 8 days after exposure. It is known from animal studies that intrarenal injection of nickel increases the renal production of erythropoietin, which may explain the reticulocytosis, and that nickel induces microsomal haem oxygenase activity in liver and kidney, leading to a secondary hyperbilirubinaemia. Serum nickel concentrations ranged from 13 to 1340 μ g/L in people with symptoms (Sunderman et al., 1988).

Seven hours after ingesting NiSO₄ in drinking-water (nickel level of 50 μ g/kg bw), a 55-year-old man developed left homonymous haemianopsia, which lasted 2 hours (Sunderman et al., 1989).

Nickel intoxication in 23 patients receiving haemodialysis was reported (Webster et al., 1980). The dialysate was contaminated by leachate from a nickel-plated stainless steel water heater tank. Symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, headache and weakness occurred rapidly after exposure at plasma nickel concentrations of about 3 mg/L and persisted for 3–13 hours after dialysis.

4.2 Reproductive and developmental effects

An epidemiological study looked at reproductive and developmental effects after occupational exposure in women working in a nickel hydrometallurgy refining plant in Russia. The level of exposure to nickel was estimated to be 0.11–0.31 mg/m³ in the air, for an employment period of 1–16 years. The study reported 15.6% spontaneous abortions among 290 women working in the plant, compared with an 8.5% incidence in 336 female control workers (Chashschin, Artunina & Norseth, 1994). In the same study, the authors noted a statistically significant increase in structural malformations among offspring born to 356 workers (16.9%) compared with 342 controls (5.8%), and increased relative risks of 6.1 for cardiovascular defects and 1.9 for musculoskeletal defects in the offspring. Heavy manual activity and heat stress of the exposed women were noted as potential confounders (see also OEHHA, 2012). This study was considered inconclusive by the European Union as a result of flaws in the study design and limited reporting (EU, 2008).

A follow-up register-based cohort study investigated whether pregnant women employed in 1973–1997 at nickel-exposed work areas had an elevated risk of delivering a newborn with a genital malformation (Vaktskjold et al., 2006). The study cohort comprised 23 141 liveborn or stillborn infants from a total of 24 534 deliveries. Exposure was classified into the three categories of background exposure ($<10~\mu g/L$), low exposure (10 to $<70~\mu g/L$) and high exposure ($\ge70~\mu g/L$). No adverse effects of maternal exposure to water-soluble nickel were found. (The higher-exposure groups had a smaller sample size.) In a second study, Vaktskjold et al. (2007) reviewed 22 836 births (>27 weeks of gestation) and concluded that occupational exposure to water-soluble nickel during early pregnancy was not associated with an elevated risk of delivering a small-for-gestational-age newborn (defined as a newborn below the 10th percentile birth weight for gestational age in the source population). The risk of spontaneous abortion was not increased after maternal nickel exposure in the same geographical area, based on an adjusted odds ratio (OR) of 1.14 (0.95–1.37) in a case–control study (Vaktskjold et al., 2008a). Another study analysed the incidence of musculoskeletal defects in the offspring in the cohort described above. Among 22 965 births, 304 infants were diagnosed with isolated

musculoskeletal defects(s). The authors concluded that, despite the high incidence of defects, there was no apparent association (adjusted OR 0.96; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.76–1.21) with maternal nickel exposure (Vaktskjold et al., 2008b).

Danadevi et al. (2003) examined semen quality of 57 workers who had been exposed to nickel for 2–21 years from a welding plant in south India and 57 controls in relation to blood nickel and chromium concentrations. In 28 workers and 27 control men selected randomly from each study group, blood nickel levels were significantly higher in the workers (123.3 \pm 35.2 $\mu g/L$) than in the controls (16.7 \pm 5.8 $\mu g/L$). Sperm concentrations of the workers were 14.5 \pm 24.0 million/mL compared with 62.8 \pm 43.7 million/mL in the control group. Rapid linear sperm motility was lower in exposed workers than in the controls, and there was a significant positive correlation between the percentage of sperm tail defects and blood nickel concentration in exposed workers. However, the study was limited by the small sample size and possible selection bias. As well, nickel exposure was determined only for a subset of workers using a single measure of nickel blood concentration in the presence of other heavy metals.

Figá-Talamanca & Petrelli (2000) studied the gender ratio among children of male workers in an Italian mint with different levels of exposure to metal fumes of nickel and chromium, depending on their job function (48 in administration, 74 technicians, 31 stampers and 63 founders). They observed a statistically significantly lower proportion of male children in founders compared with workers in administrative roles and the general population. This finding contrasts with the results from a large Danish cohort of more than 10 000 metalworkers where no change in the gender ratio was found in offspring of welders exposed to high levels of chromium and nickel (Bonde, Olsen & Hansen, 1992).

A nested case—control study evaluated the relationship between prenatal nickel exposure and the risk of delivery of preterm low-birthweight (PLBW) infants among pregnant women in Hubei province, China. The study included 102 PLBW cases and 306 matched controls. Conditional logistic regression analysis was used to explore the association between nickel levels and PLBW, as well as the effect of selenium (Se) on this association. A significant association was observed between higher maternal urinary nickel levels and risk of PLBW (adjusted OR 2.80; 95% CI 1.44–5.44 for the highest tertile), and this association was more apparent among female infants than among male infants. Further analyses indicated that mothers with high urinary nickel and low urinary Se levels had a greater risk for PLBW (adjusted OR 2.87; 95% CI 1.09–7.56). The study indicates that prenatal exposure to nickel is a risk factor for PLBW, and Se might have a modifying effect on this association (Sun et al., 2018).

A longitudinal study investigated prenatal exposure to nickel as a risk factor for preterm delivery (gestational age <37 weeks) (Chen et al., 2018). Pregnant women (n = 7291) were recruited in the longitudinal Healthy Baby Cohort in Wuhan, China. Preterm delivery was associated with statistically significantly higher urinary nickel concentrations (median 7.12 µg/g creatinine; n = 293) compared with full-term delivery (gestational age \ge 38 weeks) (median 4.98 µg/g creatinine; n = 6998). The authors concluded that higher maternal urinary nickel concentrations are associated with an increased risk of preterm delivery.

To explore the association between nickel exposure and occurrence of congenital heart defects (CHD), a case—control study with 490 controls and 399 cases was conducted in China (Zhang et al., 2019). The cases included septal defects, conotruncal defects, right and left ventricular outflow tract obstruction, anomalous pulmonary venous return and other heart defects. The

concentrations of nickel in the hair of pregnant woman and fetal placental tissue were measured. Logistic regression analysis was used to explore the relationship between nickel exposure and risk of CHD in the offspring. In the CHD group, the median concentration of nickel in maternal hair was 0.629 ng/mg, compared with 0.443 ng/mg in the control group, and the median concentration of nickel in fetal placental tissue was 0.178 ng/mg, compared with 0.148 ng/mg in the control group. The increased concentrations of nickel in maternal hair and fetal tissue in the CHD group compared with controls were both statistically significant. Additionally, when all cases and controls were stratified into three equal groups based on concentrations of nickel in maternal hair, the overall risk of CHD was significantly increased among the group with the highest concentrations of nickel in hair (>0.7216 ng/mg) when compared with the group with the lowest concentrations (<0.4111 ng/mg) (adjusted OR 1.326; 95% CI 1.003–1.757; P < 0.001).

A study investigated the association between concentrations of nickel in umbilical cord tissues and risk of orofacial clefts (Ni et al., 2018). The median level of nickel in cases of orofacial cleft (38.92 ng/g) was significantly higher than in controls (21.22 ng/g), and umbilical cord nickel concentrations above the median were associated with a 6.79-fold elevated risk for oral facial cleft. Additionally, umbilical cord nickel concentrations for cases of orofacial cleft subtypes (cleft lip with cleft palate or cleft lip only) were significantly higher than for controls (P < 0.001).

In the EFSA 2015 assessment, recognizing the uncertainty in the level of exposure to nickel by ingestion, the CONTAM Panel noted that the results of human studies do not support an association between oral exposure to nickel and effects on reproduction and development. However, studies published since the previous opinion (e.g. Chen et al., 2018; Ni et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2019) suggest that there may be an association between nickel exposure and adverse reproductive and developmental outcomes (EFSA, 2020).

4.3 Immunological effects

Allergic contact dermatitis (type IV hypersensitivity) is the most prevalent effect of nickel in the general population (Hostynek, 2006). In the USA, nickel allergic contact dermatitis had an incidence of 14.3% in the 1994–1996 study period, and was on the rise from 10 years before, when the incidence was 10% (Silverberg et al., 2002). Similar figures were reported for the European Union, Asia and the USA (Schnuch et al., 2002), and from a cohort study of 1501 8th grade school children that lasted 15 years, in which nickel sensitization (see below) was observed in 11.8% of the study group (Mortz, Bindslev-Jensen & Andersen, 2013).

Occupational exposure to nickel can cause allergic asthma via type I allergic reactions in which serum from affected individuals shows specific IgE antibodies against serum albumin conjugates (Kusaka, 1993). Very few cases of immediate-contact urticaria to nickel have been reported. Whereas type I immune responses may underlie such conditions, it has also been postulated that nickel may act as a mast cell discharger on a non-immunological basis (Walsh, Smith & King, 2010).

Exposure to nickel through skin or by inhalation may lead to nickel sensitization. A rise in nickel sensitization has been presumed to represent an increased exposure to nickel in the environment – especially from costume jewellery and belt buckles (Silverberg et al., 2002). In an epidemiological study among Asian individuals, nickel contact allergy was found to be associated with occupational exposure to the metal, as well as with seafood and canned food consumption (Boonchai, Chaiwanon & Kasemsarn, 2014).

Consumption of a nickel-rich diet may elicit eczematous flare-up reactions in the skin in sensitized individuals, a phenomenon called systemic contact dermatitis (SCD) or haematogenous contact eczema (Christensen & Möller, 1975; Kaaber, Veien & Tjell, 1978; Cronin, DiMichiel & Brown, 1980; Veien et al., 1983; Hindsén, Bruze & Christensen, 2001; Erdmann & Werfel, 2006; Jensen, Menné & Johansen, 2006; Gangemi et al., 2009). On the other hand, experimental studies have also shown that repeated oral exposure to nickel may diminish sensitization. Sjövall, Christensen & Möller (1987), Santucci et al. (1988) and Bonamonte et al. (2011) reported reduction of nickel contact dermatitis after oral exposure to soluble nickel over a prolonged period.

Systemically induced flares of dermatitis are reported after oral challenge of nickel-sensitive women with 0.5–5.6 mg of nickel as NiSO₄ administered in a lactose capsule (Veien, 1989). At the highest nickel dose (5.6 mg), there was a positive reaction in a majority of the subjects; at 0.5 mg, only a few people responded with flares. Responses to oral doses of 0.4 or 2.5 mg of nickel did not exceed responses in subjects given placebos in double-blind studies (Jordan & King, 1979; Gawkrodger et al., 1986).

There are several reports on the effects of diets low or high in nickel, but it is not known whether naturally occurring nickel in food may worsen or maintain the hand eczema of nickelsensitive patients, mainly because results from dietary depletion studies have been inconclusive (Veien & Menné, 1990). In a single-blind study, 12 nickel-sensitive women were challenged with a supplementary high-nickel diet (Nielsen et al., 1990). The authors concluded that hand eczema was aggravated during days 0–11 after the challenge and that the symptoms were nickel induced. However, in some subjects, the severity of the eczema (i.e. the number of vesicles on the palm of the hand) varied markedly between days 14 or 21 before the challenge period and the start of the challenge period.

Some studies have looked at the effects of prolonged low doses of nickel in reducing sensitization. Oral hyposensitization to nickel was reported after six weekly doses of 5 mg of nickel in a capsule (Sjövall, Christensen & Möller, 1987) or 0.1 ng of NiSO₄ daily for 3 years (Panzani et al., 1995). Cutaneous lesions were improved in eight patients with contact allergy to nickel after oral exposure to 5 mg of nickel weekly for 8 weeks (Bagot et al., 1995). Nickel in water (as NiSO₄) was given to 17 of 25 nickel-sensitive women in daily doses of 0.01–0.04 mg/kg bw/day for 3 months after they had been challenged once with 2.24 mg of nickel. Of these women, 14 ended the trial without flare-up, and only three had to stop because of intense worsening of cutaneous manifestations (Santucci et al., 1988). In another study, Santucci et al. (1994) gave increasing oral doses of nickel in water (0.01–0.03 mg/kg bw/day) to eight nickel-sensitive women for up to 178 days. A significant improvement in hand eczema was observed in all subjects after 1 month.

In a study by Nielsen et al. (1999), two groups of 20 fasted female volunteers ingested nickel (characterized as "a stable nickel isotope, 61 Ni"), dissolved in drinking-water, at a dose of 12 µg/kg bw. All subjects were diagnosed with hand eczema; the experimental group included nickel-sensitized individuals, whereas the control group included nonsensitized individuals. Nickel exposure did not affect eczema severity in the control group; however, a flare-up of eczema symptoms was reported in nine of the 20 nickel-sensitized individuals. The 12 µg/kg bw dose is similar to the dose tested in a study in which 1 mg nickel (17 µg/kg bw) resulted in a flare-up of dermatitis in an earlier patch test site in two of 10 nickel-sensitive patients (Hindsén, Bruze & Christensen, 2001). The dose of 12 µg/kg bw was considered the acute lowest-observed-adverse-effect level (LOAEL) in fasting people on a 48-hour diet with

reduced nickel content. A cumulative LOAEL could be lower, but a LOAEL in nonfasting people is probably higher because of reduced absorption of nickel ions when mixed in food.

A meta-analysis of nickel exposure investigations was conducted to provide the best possible estimate of threshold doses of nickel that may cause systemic contact dermatitis in nickel-sensitive people (Jensen, Menné & Johansen, 2006). The authors identified 17 investigations to study the dose relationship of responses to oral exposure to nickel in nickel-sensitive individuals. The reaction rate increased with increasing nickel dose. The results from the two most sensitive groups showed that 1% of these individuals may react with systemic contact dermatitis at normal daily nickel exposure from drinking-water and diet (i.e. 0.22–0.35 mg of nickel). The EFSA CONTAM Panel (EFSA, 2015) noted difficulties with accepting this meta-analysis as a basis for deriving a health-based guidance value for acute exposure to nickel. The authors had excluded some studies that exhibited a clear internal dose—response relationship and had included studies for which no internal dose—response relationship could be assessed (e.g. when only one exposure level had been used in the challenge).

The EFSA CONTAM Panel (EFSA 2015) examined 17 studies reviewed by Jensen, Menné & Johansen (2006). Of these, the study by Jensen et al. (2003) showed effects at the lowest doses, with incidences of reactions in 1/10, 4/10, 4/10 and 7/10 people at nickel doses of 0, 0.3, 1 or 4 μg per person, respectively. This study involved 40 nickel-sensitive individuals (39 female, 1 male) who were positive in patch testing to nickel. The patients were exposed to NiSO₄· 6H₂O in lactose capsules as a single bolus in the morning after a 12-hour fasting period. No other dietary intervention was conducted. Each individual was exposed to nickel in three dose groups, or placebo (lactose) in the control group, in addition to nickel exposure from the normal diet in this study; exposure from diet was not estimated. One day after the oral exposure, the status of the skin area previously exposed to patch testing with nickel was scored for objective clinical responses. The EFSA CONTAM Panel identified a LOAEL of 0.3 mg/person, the lowest dose tested from this study. This LOAEL corresponds to 4.3 μg/kg bw, assuming a body weight of 70 kg (EFSA, 2020).

4.4 Genotoxicity and carcinogenicity

Nickel species hazardous to humans were investigated by the International Committee on Nickel Carcinogenesis in Man, which analysed 10 previously studied cohorts of men occupationally exposed to nickel (ICNCM, 1990). The committee concluded that occupational exposure to sulfidic and oxidic nickel at high concentrations causes lung and nasal cancers. There was no correlation between exposure to metallic nickel and cancer in the lung or nose. Soluble nickel exposure increased the cancer risk and may also increase the risk associated with exposure to less soluble nickel compounds. The committee also concluded that there was no substantial evidence that nickel compounds produce cancers other than in the lung or nose in occupationally exposed people.

As for carcinogenic assessment of soluble nickel, the epidemiological conclusions apparently contradict the result of the animal study in which inhalation of NiSO₄ induced no tumours in rats or mice (Dunnick et al., 1995; NTP, 1996). This discrepancy might be explained by the fact that, in the NTP study, only a concentration of up to 0.1 mg/m³ was used in rats, and up to 0.2 mg/m³ in mice, since toxicity occurred at a higher dose of soluble NiSO₄. The epidemiological findings reported that the respiratory tract tumours among workers were recorded only after high exposures to more than 1 mg/m³ as soluble nickel. Based on the positive epidemiological data for workers in nickel electrolysis, soluble nickel salts are to be assessed as carcinogenic for humans by inhalation (DFG, 2006).

In relation to health risks, inhalation is an important route of exposure to nickel and its salts. Nickel and nickel compounds have been classified by the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC, 2012) as human carcinogens causing cancers of the lung, nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses after inhalation. There is currently no consistency in the epidemiological data to suggest that nickel compounds cause cancer at additional sites or by additional routes. Moreover, no tumours have been found in oral carcinogenicity studies in experimental animals. Therefore, the EFSA CONTAM Panel considered it unlikely that dietary exposure to nickel results in cancer in humans (EFSA, 2020).

5 Effects on experimental animals and in vitro systems

5.1 Acute exposure

Effects of nickel on kidney function, including tubular and glomerular lesions, have been reported by several authors after parenteral administration to rabbits and rats of high nickel doses of 1–6 mg/kg bw (IPCS, 1991).

5.2 Short-term exposure

In a 6-week feeding study in which male weanling rats were exposed to nickel (as nickel acetate) at concentrations of 0, 100, 500 or 1000 mg/kg diet (corresponding to nickel doses of 0, 12, 60 and 120 mg/kg bw/day, per EFSA (2015) review), body weight gain, plasma haemoglobin, packed cell volume and alkaline phosphatase activity were significantly reduced in high-dose animals compared with controls, whereas only body weight gain and alkaline phosphatase activity were significant reduced in mid-dose animals compared with controls (Whanger, 1973). No toxicological effects were observed in the low-dose group (12 mg/kg bw/day).

In a 13-week study in which Sprague–Dawley rats were given NiSO₄·6H₂O at doses of 0, 44.7, 111.75 or 223.5 mg/L in drinking-water (corresponding to nickel doses of 0, 4.5, 11.2 or 22.4 mg/kg bw/day), no clinical signs of toxicity were observed. Final mean body weights were unaffected, except for a decrease in the top dose group compared with controls. Lymphocyte subpopulations (T- and B-cells) were induced at the lower doses but suppressed at the highest dose. No gross or microscopic changes were seen in any of the tissues examined (Obone et al., 1999). According to the data presented in the previous EFSA assessment (EFSA, 2015), the major effects observed in the short-term repeated-dose toxicity studies following oral administration were decreased body weight, changes in organ weight (liver and kidneys), and histopathological changes in the liver and the kidney. The short-term toxicity studies published since the previous assessment have reported similar effects. The effects of nickel exposure on bone and on gut microbiota were also discussed in the more recent EFSA (2020) assessment.

5.3 Long-term exposure

5.3.1 Systemic effects

In a 2-year study conducted by Heim et al. (2007), F344 rats (60 per sex per dose) were exposed to NiSO₄·6H₂O via gavage at doses of 10, 30 or 50 mg/kg bw/day (corresponding to nickel doses of 0, 2.2, 6.7 and 11.2 mg/kg bw/day). There was a statistically significant dose-related trend of increased mortality in exposed female rats; however, according to the study authors, aspiration of the test solution was a potential cause. There was also a dose-related trend of decreasing terminal body weights in both males and females, which reached statistical

significance in the mid- and high-dose groups. There were no treatment-related effects on clinical signs, haematology and clinical chemistry end-points, urinalysis parameters, gross pathology or histopathological observations. According to the study authors, the study indicates a no-observed-adverse-effect level (NOAEL) for nickel of 2.2 mg/kg bw/day based on the reduced body weight observed at higher dose levels.

In a 2-year study, rats (25 per sex per dose) were exposed to NiSO₄·6H₂O in the diet at nickel concentrations of 0, 100, 1000 or 2500 mg/kg diet – equivalent to 0, 5, 50 or 125 mg/kg bw/day, estimated using the dose conversion factors (Ambrose et al., 1976; IPCS, 2009). Body weight was significantly reduced at 1000 and 2500 mg/kg diet – by more than 30% at the highest dose. However, there were indications that decreased food consumption might explain the decreased body weight, particularly at 2500 mg/kg diet. Survival was overall very poor (survival rates were 62–72%), especially in the male control and 2500 mg/kg diet groups. In females at 1000 and 2500 mg/kg diet, mean relative liver weights were decreased by about 20% and mean relative heart weights were increased by about 30% compared with the control group, in the absence of associated gross or histological pathology. The highest nickel concentrations were found in the kidneys. Although the study authors did not report a NOAEL, it can be considered as 5 mg/kg bw/day based on the organ weight changes reported at the mid dose (1000 mg/kg diet). However, the study does not meet current guidelines for long-term studies, mainly because of the low survival rate.

In a 2-year study, dogs (three per sex per dose) were exposed to NiSO₄· $6H_2O$ at concentrations of 0, 100, 1000 or 2500 mg/kg diet – equivalent to doses of 0, 2.5, 25 or 62.5 mg/kg bw/day, estimated using the dose conversion factors (Ambrose et al., 1976; IPCS, 2009). In the 2500 mg/kg diet group, decreased weight gain and food consumption, higher kidney to body weight and liver to body weight ratios, and histological changes in the lung were observed. The NOAEL was 25 mg/kg bw/day based on the reported effects at the high dose (2500 mg/kg diet). However, this study may have been confounded by reduced palatability, since all high-dose dogs vomited during the first 3 days.

Increased relative kidney weight was observed in rats exposed to nickel (as NiSO₄) in drinking-water at a daily dose of about 7 mg/kg bw for up to 6 months (Vyskocil, Viau & Cizková, 1994). Excretion of albumin in urine was increased in females, without changes in total protein, beta-2-microglobulin, *N*-acetyl-beta-D-glucosaminidase or lactate dehydrogenase in urine.

5.3.2 Neurological effects

No experimental animal studies designed specifically to assess functional neurological effects after nickel exposure were identified.

5.3.3 Reproductive and developmental effects

Reduced numbers of live pups and reduced fetal body weights were observed after rat dams received a single intramuscular dose of NiCl₂ (a nickel dose of 16 mg/kg bw) on gestation day 8 or Ni₃S₂ (a nickel dose of 80 mg/kg bw) on gestation day 6. No congenital anomalies were found in the fetuses (Sunderman et al., 1978).

Velazquez & Poirer (1994) and ATSDR (2005) described a two-generation study in rats. NiCl $_2$ was administered in drinking-water at concentrations of 0, 50, 250 or 500 mg/L (equal to doses

of nickel of 0, 7, 31 or 52 mg/kg bw/day) from 90 days before breeding. Food and water intakes were lower in the exposed animals relative to controls, suggesting palatability issues. Along with changes in maternal body weight and liver weight at the 500 mg/L dose level in the P_0 generation, there was a dose-related decrease in live litter size and pup weight, and increased neonatal mortality. In the F_1 generation, there was dose-related mortality at 3–7 weeks of age at the 250 and 500 mg/L dose levels. For the F_1 matings, there were also dose-related decreases in live litter size, and increased mortality per litter in the 500 mg/L group. The NOAEL for nickel in this study was 7 mg/kg bw/day; however, problems related to palatability, and sporadically elevated room temperature (6 °C higher than normal during certain gestation and early postnatal days) and lower humidity confound the interpretation.

Female Long–Evans rats were exposed to nickel as NiCl₂ in drinking-water for 11 weeks before mating, and during two successive gestation periods (G1 and G2) and lactation periods (L1 and L2) at concentrations of 0, 10, 50 or 250 mg/L (equal to nickel at 0, 1.3, 6.8 or 31.6 mg/kg bw/day) (Smith et al., 1993). Dams drinking water containing nickel at 31.6 mg/kg bw/day consumed less liquid and more food per kg bw than did controls. Maternal weight gain was reduced during G1 in the mid- and high-dose groups. There were no effects on pup birth weight, and weight gain was reduced only in male pups from dams in the mid-dose group. The proportion of dead pups per litter was significantly elevated at the high dose in L1, and at the low and high doses in L2; an increase at the middle dose in L2 approached statistical significance. The response in both experimental segments was dose related. The number of dead pups per litter was significantly increased at each dose in L2. The number of litters with dead pups and the total number of dead pups per litter in the control group were less in L2 than in L1. Plasma prolactin levels were reduced in dams at the highest dose level 1 week after weaning of the second litter. The authors concluded that 1.3 mg/kg bw/day represented the LOAEL; this was conservative, given the variations in response between the successive litters.

A range-finding study was carried out for a two-generation study investigating the potential for reproductive toxicity of nickel (SLI, 2000a; EU, 2008). The range-finding and definitive studies for the rat two-generation reproduction study of NiSO₄· $6H_2O$ were conducted using gavage as the route of exposure, due to palatability problems with nickel in drinking-water and bioavailability problems with nickel in food. The range-finding study was designed in two parts. The first part was a dose–response probe using small numbers of animals and NiSO₄· $6H_2O$ exposures of 0, 5, 15, 25, 50, 75 or 150 mg/kg bw/day. (Note that the lower 95% confidence limit for lethality from NiSO₄· $6H_2O$ is 170 mg/kg bw/day.) Lethality was observed at the 150 mg/kg bw/day exposure level.

The second part of the range-finding study (i.e. a one-generation reproductive toxicity study) used NiSO₄·6H₂O exposures of 0, 10, 20, 30, 50 or 75 mg/kg bw/day. These doses had no effect on parental survival, growth, mating behaviour, copulation, fertility, implantation or gestation length. However, evaluation of post-implantation/perinatal lethality among the offspring of the treated parental rats (i.e. the number of pups conceived minus the number of live pups at birth) showed statistically significant increases at the 30–75 mg/kg bw/day exposures, and more questionable increases at the 10 and 20 mg/kg bw/day levels. The decrease in perinatal survival evident in the one-generation range-finding study was anticipated from previous literature reports. The goal of the range-finding studies was to refine the NOAEL for this end-point. The one-generation study also showed that the mean live litter size was significantly decreased at the 75 mg/kg bw/day level and was lower than historical controls at or above 30 mg/kg bw/day.

Based on the results of the one-generation study, NiSO₄·6H₂O exposure levels of 1, 2.5, 5.0 and 10 mg/kg bw/day were administered by gavage to five groups of male and female rats in the definitive two-generation study. These dose levels were chosen to ensure that the study would have a measurable NOAEL for the post-implantation/perinatal lethality end-point. Males of the parental (F₀) generation were dosed during growth and for at least one complete spermatogenic cycle, to elicit any possible adverse effects on spermatogenesis. Females of the F₀ generation were dosed during growth and for several complete estrous cycles, to elicit any possible adverse effects on estrous. The test substance was administered to F₀ animals during mating, during pregnancy and through the weaning of their first-generation (F₁) offspring. At weaning, exposure was continued for F₁ offspring during their growth into adulthood, mating and production of an F₂ generation, and until the F₂ generation was weaned. Clinical observation and pathological examination were performed for signs of toxicity, with special emphasis on effects on the integrity and performance of the male and female reproductive systems, and on the growth and development of the offspring. The results from the twogeneration study indicated that the NOAEL was 5 mg/kg bw/day for NiSO₄·6H₂O or 1.1 mg/kg bw/day for nickel in adults and offspring. This was based on the effects observed at the highest H₁₂NiO₁₀S dose of 10 mg/kg bw/day (a nickel dose of 2.2 mg/kg bw/day), based on increased frequency of post-implantation/perinatal lethality (SLI, 2000b; EU, 2008).

In a three-generation study in rats in which animals were administered nickel as NiSO₄ in the diet at levels of nickel of 250, 500 or 1000 mg/kg diet (equivalent to 12.5, 25 or 50 mg/kg bw/day), a higher incidence of stillborns in the first generation was observed in all dose groups compared with the control group (Ambrose et al., 1976). Body weights were decreased in weanlings at 1000 mg/kg diet in all generations. The number of pups born alive per litter and the number of pups weaned per litter were progressively fewer with increasing nickel dose, but no statistical analysis of the results was presented. Decreased weanling body weight was a clear-cut effect in the 1000 mg/kg diet dose group. No teratogenic effects were observed in any generation at any dose level. No histological lesions were observed in the third generation at weaning.

Alterations in milk composition (including increased milk solids and lipid, and decreased milk protein and lactose) and higher milk:plasma nickel concentration ratios were observed in lactating rats exposed to four daily subcutaneous injections of NiCl₂ at doses equivalent to 3–6 mg/kg bw (Dostal et al., 1989). Additionally, liver weights were decreased in pups whose dams received nickel at 3 or 6 mg/kg bw/day, which the study authors suggested could be related to nickel exposure or changes in milk composition.

In a study in which NiCl₂ was administered to male mice in pellets incorporated in the feed to give a dose of 10 mg/kg bw/day for 3, 6, 9 or 12 weeks, significant morphometric changes in the histology of the testis were reported. However, the study had a number of uncertainties that require confirmation (Toman et al., 2012).

5.3.4 Genotoxicity and carcinogenicity

The genotoxicity of nickel compounds has been reviewed by Toxicology Excellence for Risk Assessment (TERA, 1999) and as part of the European Union risk assessment (EU, 2008). Most studies relate to water-soluble compounds. TERA (1999) concluded that "evidence for genotoxicity is mixed, although water soluble nickel compounds have been generally consistent in inducing effects in certain kinds of mammalian assays, particularly mutagenic responses and DNA damage in vitro, chromosomal effects including aberrations and sister-

chromatid exchanges in vitro and in vivo, and carcinogenic transformation of mammalian cells in vitro. Responses in many of these assays were weak and occurred at toxic doses". According to the more recent EFSA (2020) review, the genotoxicity of nickel is "likely due to indirect effects including inhibition of DNA repair and ROS [reactive oxygen species] production".

Nickel compounds are generally inactive in bacterial mutation assays but active in mammalian cell systems; however, nickel-induced responses were concluded to be secondary to cell toxicity in all gene mutation studies in mammalian cells (IPCS, 1991).

Chromosomal gaps, deletions and rearrangements; DNA-protein cross-links; and sister chromatid exchanges in response to nickel are reported in mammalian systems, including human cell systems. Chromosomal aberrations occur in all chromosomes, particularly in the heterochromatic centromeric regions (IPCS, 1991; Rossman, 1994).

In several experimental systems, nickel ions have been shown to potentiate the effects of other mutagenic agents. This may be explained by the capacity of nickel to inhibit DNA repair (Lynn et al., 1994; Rossman, 1994).

Only a limited number of studies have looked at carcinogenic effects after oral exposure to nickel compounds. In the 2-year chronic repeated-dose study conducted by Heim et al. (2007), daily gavage doses of nickel of 0, 2.2, 6.7 and 11.2 mg/kg bw/day did not produce an exposure-related increase in any common tumour type or any increase in rare tumours. Similarly, the incidence of tumours in rats chronically exposed to drinking-water containing nickel at 5 mg/L was similar to controls (Schroeder, Mitchener & Nason, 1974). Furthermore, no difference in tumour incidence was observed in a lifetime study in rats exposed to nickel in the feed at 5, 50 or 125 mg/kg bw/day compared with controls (Ambrose et al., 1976). However, a high death rate was reported in the latter study, limiting the number of necropsies that could be performed and indicating that the maximum tolerated dose may have been exceeded. A similar 2-year study in dogs also revealed no increase in tumours (Ambrose et al., 1976).

A number of studies via non-oral routes of exposure have been conducted on the carcinogenicity of nickel compounds in experimental animals (IARC, 1990; Aitio, 1995). Generally, tumours are induced at the site of administration of the nickel compound. For instance, several nickel compounds induced injection-site sarcomas (Sunderman, 1984). Local tumours (malignant lung tumours) were induced by soluble nickel acetate via the intraperitoneal route (Pott et al., 1992). A marked variation in the incidence of injection-site sarcomas between different strains of mice has been reported (Rodriguez et al., 1996).

In the only published inhalation study with NiSO₄, no respiratory tract tumours were induced in rats or mice (Dunnick et al., 1995; NTP, 1996). However, the concentrations of NiSO₄ were limited to 0.11 mg/m³ in rats and 0.22 mg/m³ in mice, since toxicity (pneumonia) occurred at higher doses. The contradictory epidemiological study results (see section 4.4) suggest that soluble nickel salts are to be assessed as carcinogenic for humans by inhalation (DFG, 2006). However, the relevance of these non-oral studies to the cancer hazard associated with drinkingwater exposure is unclear.

5.4 Mode of action

Nickel can cross-link amino acids to DNA, lead to formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and mimic hypoxia. These changes may activate some signalling pathways and subsequent

transcription factors, and eventually alter gene expression and cellular metabolism (Forgács et al., 2012).

The EFSA (2020) CONTAM Panel concluded that oxidative stress and an elevation of ROS are involved in the reproductive toxicity, genotoxicity, immunotoxicity and neurotoxicity of nickel. In addition to ROS-mediated toxicity, EFSA (2020) suggested that nickel might interfere with iron homeostasis via competitive inhibition of the transport of divalent iron into cells via DMT1, as well as competitive inhibition of iron binding sites on prolyl hydroxylases (enzymes that modify hypoxia inducible factor-1a [HIF-1a]) (EFSA, 2020).

Interactions of metal ions with proteins and the role of immune responses have been reviewed (Martin, Merfort & Thierse, 2006). There is evidence that the combination of nickel with circulating or tissue protein gives rise to antigen-specific responses, and thus nickel can act as a contact allergen to cause sensitization. The antigens are taken up by antigen-presenting cells that migrate to draining lymph nodes, resulting in activation of nickel-specific T-lymphocytes. Contact sensitivity is expressed as either type I or type IV hypersensitivity, mediated by antigen- and allergen-specific T-lymphocytes, leading to a wide range of cutaneous eruptions following dermal or systemic exposure. An alternative, but not mutually exclusive, hypothesis is that the metal interferes with the antigen recognition step of the immune response – that is, it binds to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and/or MHC-bound peptides and T-cell receptors, leading to activation of nickel-specific T-cells (EFSA, 2015).

The EFSA (2020) assessment reviewed additional studies published more recently than the earlier EFSA (2015) assessment, which support the hypothesis that the binding of nickel to proteins is responsible for the induction of specific immune responses, leading to allergic reactions. Specifically, these studies suggest that nickel induces inflammatory reactions through toll-like receptors and NF-κB signalling pathways, which may contribute to allergic reactions and immunotoxicity (EFSA, 2020). The CONTAM Panel also suggested that these mechanisms may lead to apoptosis and reduced production of immunoglobulins, which may have an adverse impact on host resistance. Although these effects are primarily associated with dermal exposure, oral exposure to nickel may cause flare-up reactions in already sensitized individuals (EFSA, 2020).

5.5 Other effects

With respect to the immune system, nickel salts affect the T-cell system and suppress the activity of natural killer cells in rats and mice (IPCS, 1991). Mitogen-dependent lymphocyte stimulation was inhibited in human lymphocytes (Sikora & Zeromski, 1995) and in spleens of mice exposed to nickel (IPCS, 1991). Dose-related decreased spleen proliferative response to lipopolysaccharide was observed in mice exposed to NiSO₄ in drinking-water for 180 days. At the lowest dose of nickel (44 mg/kg bw/day), decreased thymus weight was observed, but there was no nickel-induced immunosuppression of NK cell activity or response to T-cell mitogens.

Parenteral administration of nickel to rabbits, chickens and rats, and oral administration of nickel to rabbits induced hyperglycaemia. In rats, it reduced the levels of prolactin releasing factor (IPCS, 1991).

The myeloid system was affected – that is, there was a decrease in bone marrow cellularity and dose-related reductions in the bone marrow proliferative response – when mice were exposed to NiSO₄ in drinking-water at doses of nickel of 0, 44, 108 or 150 mg/kg bw/day for 180 days (Dieter et al., 1988). The LOAEL for nickel in this study was 44 mg/kg bw/day.

6 Overall database and quality of evidence

6.1 Summary of health effects

In assessing health hazards and potential risk from nickel exposure in drinking-water, it is appropriate to consider only data relating to water-soluble nickel salts, which will reflect the toxicity of the nickel ion.

In humans, oral exposure to nickel was associated with effects on the gastrointestinal, haematological, neurological and immune systems. Gastrointestinal and neurological symptoms were the most commonly reported following acute exposure.

In experimental animals, oral ingestion of soluble nickel salts resulted in a wide range of adverse effects, including nephrotoxicity, hepatotoxicity and metabolic effects. Nickel can cross the placental barrier and affect the developing embryo or fetus. Prenatal and perinatal mortality were increased in the offspring of pregnant rats ingesting nickel salts. These adverse effects occur at the lowest doses. The EFSA CONTAM Panel identified reproductive and developmental toxicity as the critical effect for the risk characterization of chronic oral exposure to nickel (EFSA, 2020). Recent human studies suggest an association between nickel exposure and adverse reproductive and developmental outcomes (EFSA, 2020). The most reliable dose—response information for reproductive and developmental effects was identified in a one-generation dose-range-finding study performed with NiSO₄·6H₂O in rats (SLI, 2000a) and in the subsequent main two-generation study (SLI, 2000b). The incidence of litters with post-implantation loss per treatment group was identified as the relevant and sensitive end-point for the chronic dose—response assessment (EFSA, 2020).

Exposure to nickel through skin or by inhalation may lead to nickel sensitization. Whereas oral exposure to nickel is not known to lead to sensitization in the general population, it can elicit eczematous flare-up reactions in the skin (SCD) in nickel-sensitized individuals. These reactions may develop following a single oral exposure to nickel salts. Several studies analysing SCD elicited in nickel-sensitive humans after acute oral exposure to nickel were identified as suitable for an acute dose–response analysis.

6.2 Quality of evidence

Several kinetic studies in humans and experimental animals indicate that oral absorption of soluble nickel species is more efficient when administration is via drinking-water or other beverages than via solid food (see section 3.1). Accordingly, gavage and drinking-water studies were weighted more heavily than feeding studies in this assessment. However, there is uncertainty in the systemic absorption rate in the key studies identified to derive acute and chronic reference values. For example, in the key study identified for the chronic health-based value, nickel was administered to rats via gavage using an aqueous solution to assess chronic effects but was not reflective of fasted conditions. Additionally, although the key study used to identify a point of departure associated with SCD in human volunteers (Jensen et al., 2003) was conducted under fasted conditions, nickel was administered by lactose capsule rather than by drinking-water.

Epidemiological data from well-conducted studies on drinking-water and dietary exposure to nickel are limited; however, several case—control and longitudinal studies suggest an association between nickel exposure and adverse reproductive and developmental outcomes. Additionally, although studies in humans who were primarily exposed to nickel via inhalation

in occupational settings are suggestive of carcinogenic potential in the lungs and nose, these effects are of limited relevance to drinking-water exposure.

7 Practical aspects

7.1 Analytical methods and achievability

The two most commonly used analytical methods for nickel in water are atomic absorption spectrometry and inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry. Flame atomic absorption spectrometry is suitable in the range of $0.1-10\,\text{mg/L}$ (ISO, 1986, reaffirmed in 2017). Inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry can be used for the determination of nickel with a limit of detection of about $10\,\mu\text{g/L}$ (ISO, 1996). Methods for the analysis of nickel approved by the United States Environmental Protection Agency include inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrometry, inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry and graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry. These methods have limits of detection of $0.5-5\,\mu\text{g/L}$ (US EPA, 1994a,b,c, 2003).

7.2 Source control

Nickel can be found in drinking-water as a result of its presence in alloys used in drinking-water contact applications such as stainless steel, or through nickel or chromium plating of taps. It is also present in water sources, usually as a consequence of dissolution from naturally occurring nickel-bearing strata in groundwater. In the first two cases, the most important means of control is by product specifications delivered through an appropriate certification scheme for materials in contact with drinking-water. Consumers should flush chromium- or nickel-plated taps before using the water, particularly after periods of stagnation.

7.3 Treatment methods and performance

Conventional surface water treatment, comprising chemical coagulation, sedimentation and filtration, can achieve 35–80% removal of nickel, depending on a number of factors including the coagulant dosage and pH (Zemansky, 1974; Hunter, Stephenson & Lester, 1987; Duguet & Rizet, 1996; Maleki, Roshani & Karakani, 2005). Better nickel removal may occur with waters containing high concentrations of humic substances (Doig & Liber, 2007); for waters low in solids, addition of powdered activated carbon can improve nickel removal (Welté, 2002). Increasing pH and the presence of high turbidity both favour nickel removal. The optimum pH for removal on activated carbon was reported to be pH 8 (Duguet & Rizet, 1996). However, other studies have reported that nickel is rather poorly adsorbed on activated carbon (Seco et al., 1997; Rosińska and Dąbrowska, 2016).

Effective removal of nickel from groundwater can be achieved using chelating ion-exchange resins (Stetter, Dördlemann & Overath, 2002). Specialized ion exchange resins can achieve 83.5–90% nickel removal (Vaarama & Lehto, 2003; Demirbas et al., 2005). Various adsorbents could potentially be used to remove nickel from groundwater (Duguet & Rizet, 1996; Welté, 2002).

8 Conclusion

8.1 Derivation of the guideline value

The reassessment of the risk posed by nickel in drinking-water supports maintaining the guideline value (GV) of $70 \,\mu\text{g/L}$. The reassessment takes into account improved science and

methods, including a meta-analysis of epidemiological data and an updated benchmark dose (BMD) approach that enabled an improved determination of a point of departure for chronic oral exposure. The reassessment also identified weaknesses in the original study used to derive a GV (Nielsen et al., 1999; WHO, 2005). Although this study no longer forms the basis for the GV, the GV remains the same.

The critical effect for the risk characterization of chronic oral exposure to nickel is reproductive and developmental toxicity. EFSA (2020) derived a BMDL₁₀ for nickel of 1.3 mg/kg bw, based on the incidence of litters with post-implantation loss in rat dams. The BMD modelling was performed on data from a dose range-finding one-generation study and on data from a subsequent two-generation study (SLI, 2000a,b), and was conducted according to updated BMD guidance (EFSA, 2017). The EFSA CONTAM Panel noted that combining the individual data on post-implantation loss per litter from both the range-finding single-generation study and the definitive multi-generation study provided the most robust results.

The well-conducted two-generation study in rats is a key study for derivation of a health-based value, because inadequate quantitative data are available from human studies of chronic reproductive or developmental effects. The application of an uncertainty factor of 100 (10 to account for interspecies differences and 10 to account for intraspecies variation) to the BDML₁₀ of 1.3 mg/kg bw/day gives a tolerable daily intake of 13 μ g/kg bw/day. The contribution of drinking-water intake to the total daily intake appears to be minor. The contribution of drinking-water to the mean dietary exposure in the total European Union population was rather low (up to 3% in infants) (see section 2.6). However, nickel absorption is greater from drinking-water than from food; data indicate that a mean of 25–27% of the administered nickel dose is absorbed when exposure occurs via drinking-water versus a mean of 0.7–2.5% when exposure occurs via food (EFSA, 2020; see section 3.1). Therefore, the default allocation factor of 20% (the floor value) is appropriate for derivation of the health-based value for drinking-water. The health-based value of 80 μ g/L (13 μ g/kg bw/day \times 60 kg bw, with water consumption of 2 L/day and default 20% allocation factor) is protective of chronic systemic toxicity.

For acute toxicity, the SCD elicited in nickel-sensitive humans after exposure to nickel through water is the most sensitive and critical effect. Most studies had small sample sizes and were case—control or volunteer studies, with nickel-sensitive patients orally exposed to 0.3–5 mg of nickel. These human studies support a dose-related response after low-dose exposures. The EFSA CONTAM Panel used both Gawkrodger et al. (1986) and Jensen et al. (2003) in its doseresponse assessment, as these studies reported both the incidence of flare-up reactions and the development of new physical signs (e.g. eczematous or erythematous eruptions). Furthermore, as the populations studied by both research groups are comparable (based on age, sex, type of exposure and region where the study was conducted), the EFSA CONTAM Panel combined the datasets from these two studies in its benchmark dose modelling. Using model averaging, the resulting BMDL₁₀–BMDU₁₀ interval for the incidence of clinically cutaneous reactions was 0.0124–2.43 mg nickel/person; however, the EFSA CONTAM Panel noted the relatively large BMDL-BMDU interval and the BMDL₁₀ of 0.0124 mg nickel/person being outside the dose range. The large uncertainty in the BMD can be related to the small group size, despite several dose groups having been used (EFSA, 2020). As a result of these observations, a GV for acute effects could not be derived, and the LOAEL for nickel of 4.3 µg/kg bw that was identified from the Jenson et al. (2003) study was selected as a reference point for a margin of exposure (MOE) evaluation. Comparison of the mean upper-bound acute dietary exposure with the LOAEL results in MOE values that range from 0.3 to 2.3 across dietary surveys. The EFSA

CONTAM Panel concluded that the calculated MOEs raise a health concern for young age groups and for nickel-sensitized individuals. For example, if a nickel-sensitized individual consumes a specific food containing high nickel content, SCD may be elicited. The bioavailability of nickel is higher under fasted conditions than under nonfasted conditions. Considering a scenario in which drinking-water containing the chronic health-based concentration of nickel (80 $\mu g/L$) is consumed under fasted conditions, the acute exposure from a glass of tap water (about 200 mL) is 0.27 $\mu g/kg$ bw, and the MOE is approximately 16. Recognizing that the SCD elicited in the Jensen et al. (2003) study was associated with a bolus exposure with higher concentration of nickel under fasted conditions, in contrast to the intermittent nature of a normal drinking-water exposure scenario, the MOE value for the acute scenario will be of low health concern. Daily consumption of drinking-water containing nickel at the chronic health-based value concentration (80 $\mu g/L$) therefore does not raise a significant acute or long-term health concern.

This updated risk assessment supports the GV of $70\,\mu\text{g/L}$ as protective of health. Its achievability is supported by available source control measures, current treatment technologies and measurability by analytical methods. Considering these factors and the revised health-based value ($80\,\mu\text{g/L}$) being only slightly higher than the previous GV ($70\,\mu\text{g/L}$), and factoring in the imprecision inherent in risk assessment procedures, this difference is not judged significant enough to warrant a minimal relaxing of the GV, which is therefore retained at $70\,\mu\text{g/L}$. This also would avoid triggering unnecessary revision of national drinking-water regulations and standards.

8.2 Considerations in applying the guideline value

The GV is based on the most sensitive effects of reproductive and developmental toxicity in rats. Some related toxicological effects were suggested in human studies. From the point of view of protection of chronic health effects, the GV of 70 µg/L would be prophylactic. However, little information is available about daily nickel consumption in humans, especially in nickel-sensitive patients. Furthermore, the study used for the acute GV derivation did not consider the contribution of dietary exposure in the estimation of the nickel doses tested in human volunteers. Because the major source of nickel in drinking-water results from leaching from stainless steel devices or nickel- or chromium-plated taps used in plumbing, flushing the tap before drinking, particularly after periods of stagnation, is recommended for nickel-sensitive people. As nickel is usually found in drinking-water at concentrations below the GV, monitoring and inclusion in drinking-water regulations and standards would usually only be necessary if there were indications that a specific pollution or problem might exist. The most important means of control is by product specifications delivered through an appropriate certification scheme for materials in contact with drinking-water.

References

- Aitio A (1995). Nickel and nickel compounds. Stockholm: National Institute of Working Life, Nordic Council of Ministers, Nordic Expert Group for Criteria Documentation of Health Risks from Chemicals (Arbete och hälsa 26).
- Alam N, Corbett SJ, Ptolemy HC (2008). Environmental health risk assessment of nickel contamination of drinking water in a country town in NSW. NSW Public Health Bulletin. 19:170–3.
- Alberici TM, Sopper WE, Storm GL, Yahner RH (1989). Trace metals in soil vegetation and voles from mine land treated with sewage sludge. J Environ Qual. 18:115–19.
- Allen HE, Halley-Henderson MA, Hass CN (1989). Chemical composition of bottled mineral water. Arch Environ Health. 44:102–16.
- Ambrose AM, Larson PS, Borzelleca JF, Hennigar GR Jr (1976). Long term toxicologic assessment of nickel in rats and dogs. J Food Sci Technol. 13:181–7.
- Andersen KE, Nielsen GD, Flyvholm MA, Fregert S, Gruvberge B (1983). Nickel in tap water. Contact Dermatitis. 9:140–3.
- ANSES (Agence Nationale de Sécurité Sanitaire de l'Alimentation, de l'Environnement et du Travail) (2005). Fiche 12: Evaluation des risques sanitaires liés au dépassement de la limite de qualité du nickel dans les eaux destinées à la consommation humaine (Saisine n°2004–SA–0068). [Cited by EFSA, 2015.]
- Antonsen DH (1981). Nickel compounds. In: Grayson M, Eckroth D, editors. Kirk-Othmer encyclopedia of chemical technology, Vol. 15, third edition. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 801–19.
- ATSDR (Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry) (2005). Toxicological profile for nickel. Atlanta, Georgia: ATSDR, United States Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service.
- Bagot M, Charue D, Flechet ML, Terki N, Toma A, Revuz J (1995). Oral desensitization in nickel allergy induces a decrease in nickel-specific T-cells. Eur J Dermatol. 5:614–17.
- Babaahmadifooladi M, Jacxsens L, De Meulenaer B, Du Laing G (2020). Nickel in foods sampled on the Belgian market: identification of potential contamination sources. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess. 37:607–21.
- Becker W, Kumpulainen J (1991). Contents of essential and toxic mineral elements in Swedish market-basket diets in 1987. Br J Nutr. 66:151–60.
- Bennett BG (1984). Environmental nickel pathways to man. In: Sunderman FW Jr, editor. Nickel in the human environment. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 487–495 (IARC Scientific Publications No. 53).
- Bertoldi D, Bontempo L, Larcher R, Nicolini G, Voerkelius S, Lorenz GD, et al. (2011). Survey of the chemical composition of 571 European bottled mineral waters. J Food Compost Anal. 24:376–85.
- Birge WJ, Black JA (1980). Aquatic toxicology of nickel. In: Nriagu JO, editor. Nickel in the environment. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 354–5.

- Bonamonte D, Cristaudo A, Nasorri F, Carbone T, De Pità O, Angelini G, et al. (2011). Efficacy of oral hyposensitization in allergic contact dermatitis caused by nickel. Contact Dermatitis. 65:293–301.
- Bonde JPE, Olsen JH, Hansen KS (1992). Adverse pregnancy outcome and childhood malignancy with reference to paternal welding exposure. Scand J Work Environ Health. 18:169–77.
- Boonchai W, Chaiwanon O, Kasemsarn P (2014). Risk assessment for nickel contact allergy. J Dermatol. 41:1065–8.
- Booth J (1990). Nickel in the diet and its role in allergic dermatitis. J Hum Nutr Diet. 3:233–43.
- Casey CE, Robinson MF (1978). Copper, manganese, zinc, nickel, cadmium and lead in human foetal tissues. Br J Nutr. 39:639–46.
- Cempel M, Nikel G (2006). Nickel: a review of its sources and environmental toxicology. Pol J Environ Stud. 15:375–82.
- Chashschin VP, Artunina GP, Norseth T (1994). Congenital defects, abortion and other health effects in nickel refinery workers. Sci Total Environ. 148:287–91.
- Chen X, Li Y, Zhang B, Zhou A, Zheng T, Huang Z, et al. (2018). Maternal exposure to nickel in relation to preterm delivery. Chemosphere. 193:1157–63.
- Christensen OB, Möller H (1975). External and internal exposure to the antigen in the hand eczema of nickel allergy. Contact Dermatitis. 1:136–41.
- COT (Committee on Toxicity) (2008). COT statement on the 2006 UK Total Diet Study of Metals and Other Elements. London: Food Standards Agency (https://cot.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/cot/cotstatementtds200808.pdf).
- COT (Committee on Toxicology) (2014). Total Diet Study: metals and other elements. Metals exposure data (https://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/media/document/metals-exposure-data.xlsx).
- COT (Committee on Toxicity) (2018). Statement on potential risks from nickel in the diet of infants aged 0 to 12 months and children aged 1 to 5 years (COT Statement 2018/02; https://cot.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/statementonpotentialrisksofnickel.pdf).
- Cronin E, DiMichiel AD, Brown SS (1980). Oral challenge in nickel-sensitive women with hand eczema. In: Brown SS, Sunderman FW Jr, editors. Nickel toxicology. New York: Academic Press, 149–52.
- Dabeka RW (1989). Survey of lead, cadmium, cobalt and nickel in infant formulas and evaporated milks and estimation of dietary intakes of the elements by infants 0–12 months old. Sci Total Environ. 89:279–89.
- Dabeka RW, McKenzie AD (1995). Survey of lead, cadmium, fluoride, nickel, and cobalt in food composites and estimation of dietary intakes of these elements by Canadians in 1986–1988. J AOAC Int. 78:897–909.
- Daldrup T, Haarhoff K, Szathmary SC (1983). [Fatal nickel sulfate poisoning]. Beiträge zur Gerichtlichen Medizin. 41:141–4 (in German with English summary).
- Danadevi K, Rozati R, Reddy PP, Grover P (2003). Semen quality of Indian welders occupationally exposed to nickel and chromium. Reprod Toxicol. 17:451–6.

- De Brouwere K, Buekers J, Cornelis C, Schlekat CE, Oller AR (2012). Assessment of indirect human exposure to environmental sources of nickel: oral exposure and risk characterization for systemic effects. Sci Total Environ. 419:25–36.
- Demirbas A, Pehlivan E, Gode F, Altun T, Arslan G (2005). Adsorption of Cu(II), Zn(II), Ni(II), Pb(II), and Cd(II) from aqueous solution on Amberlite IR 120 synthetic resin. J Colloid Interface Sci. 282:20–5.
- DFG (Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft) (2006). The MAK-collection for occupational health and safety, Part I: MAK value documentations, Vol. 22. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH.
- Dieter MP, Jameson CW, Tucker AN, Luster MI, French JE, Hong HL, et al. (1988). Evaluation of tissue disposition, myelopoietic, and immunologic responses in mice after long-term exposure to nickel sulfate in the drinking water. J Toxicol Environ Health. 24:356–72.
- Doig LE, Liber K (2007). Nickel speciation in the presence of different sources and fractions of dissolved organic matter. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 66:169–77.
- Dostal LA, Hopfer SM, Lin SM, Sunderman FW Jr (1989). Effects of nickel chloride on lactating rats and their suckling pups, and the transfer of nickel through rat milk. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 101:220–31.
- Dressler RL, Storm GL, Tzilkowski WM, Sopper WE (1986). Heavy metals in cottontail rabbits on mined lands treated with sewage sludge. J Environ Qual. 15:278–81.
- Duguet JP, Rizet M (1996). Traitement du nickel dans la préparation des eaux de consommation. Techniques, Sciences, Méthodes. 91(10):712–15.
- Dunnick JK, Elwell MR, Radovsky AE, Benson JM, Hahn FF, Nikula KJ, et al. (1995). Comparative carcinogenic effects of nickel subsulfide, nickel oxide, or nickel sulfate hexahydrate chronic exposures in the lung. Cancer Res. 55:5251–6.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) (2015). Scientific opinion on the risks to public health related to the presence of nickel in food and drinking water. EFSA Journal. 13(2):4002.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) (2017). Update: use of the benchmark dose approach in risk assessment. EFSA Journal. 15(1):4658.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) (2020). Update of the risk assessment of nickel in food. EFSA Journal. 18(11):6268.
- Erdmann SM, Werfel T (2006). Hematogenous contact eczema induced by foods. Hautarzt. 57:116–20.
- EU (European Union) (2008). European Union risk assessment report: nickel and nickel compounds. Luxembourg: EU.
- Figá-Talamanca I, Petrelli G (2000). Reduction in male births among workers exposed to metal fumes. Int J Epidemiol. 29(2):381–3.
- Flint GN, Packirisamy S (1995). Systemic nickel: the contribution made by stainless-steel cooking utensils. Contact Dermatitis. 32:218–24.
- Fødevaredirektoratet (2000). Overvågningssystem for levnedsmidler 1993–1997. Søborg: Ministeriet for Fødevarer, Landbrug og Fiskeri.

- Forgács Z, Massanyi P, Lukac N, Somosy Z (2012). Reproductive toxicology of nickel: review. J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng. 47:1249–60.
- Foulkes EC, McMullen DM (1986). On the mechanism of nickel absorption in the rat jejunum. Toxicology. 38:35–42.
- FSA (Food Standards Agency) (2000). Duplicate diet study of vegetarians: dietary exposures to 12 metals and other elements. London: United Kingdom Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food (MAFF Surveillance Information Sheet 193).
- Gammelgaard B, Andersen JR (1985). Nickel in tap water. Contact Dermatitis. 12:123.
- Gangemi S, Ricciardi L, Minciullo PL, Cristani M, Saitta, S, Chirafisi J, et al. (2009). Serum levels of protein oxidation products in patients with nickel allergy. Allergy Asthma Proc. 30:552–7.
- Gawkrodger DJ, Cook SW, Fell GS, Hunter JA (1986). Nickel dermatitis: the reaction to oral nickel challenge. Br J Dermatol. 115:33–8.
- Grandjean P, Nielsen GD, Andersen O (1989). Human nickel exposure and chemobiokinetics. In: Maibach HI, Menné T, editors. Nickel and the skin: immunology and toxicology. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press, Inc., 9–35.
- Haudrechy P, Foussereau J, Mantout B, Baroux B (1994). Nickel release from nickel-plated metals and stainless steels. Contact Dermatitis. 31:249–55.
- Health Canada (1994). Nickel and its compounds: Priority Substances List assessment report. Gatineau: Canadian Government (https://www.ec.gc.ca/ese-ees/default.asp?lang=En&n=B11B36F9-1, accessed 14 April 2020).
- Heim KE, Bates HK, Rush RE, Oller AR (2007). Oral carcinogenicity study with nickel sulfate hexahydrate in Fischer 344 rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 224:126–37.
- Hendel RC, Sunderman FW Jr (1972). Species variations in the proportions of ultrafiltrable and protein-bound serum nickel. Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol. 4:141–6.
- Hindsén M, Bruze M, Christensen OB (2001). Flare-up reactions after oral challenge with nickel in relation to challenge dose and intensity and time of previous patch test reactions. J Am Acad Dermatol. 44(4):616–23.
- Hopfer SM, Fay WP, Sunderman FW Jr (1989). Serum nickel concentrations in hemodialysis patients with environmental exposure. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 19:161–7.
- Hostynek JJ (2006). Sensitization to nickel: etiology, epidemiology, immune reactions, prevention, and therapy. Rev Environ Health. 21:253–80.
- Hunter M, Stephenson T, Lester JN (1987). The fate of heavy metals in pilot-scale upflow sludge-blanket clarifiers. Water Environ J. 1(1):77–88.
- IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer) (1990). Nickel and nickel compounds. In: Chromium, nickel and welding. Lyon: IARC, 257–445 (IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Vol. 49).
- IARC (International Agency for Research on Cancer) (2012). Nickel and nickel compounds. Lyon: IARC (IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Vol. 100C).

- ICNCM (International Committee on Nickel Carcinogenesis in Man) (1990). Report of the International Committee on Nickel Carcinogenesis in Man. Scand Journal Work Environ Health. 16:1–82.
- IPCS (International Programme on Chemical Safety) (1991). Nickel. Geneva: World Health Organization (Environmental Health Criteria 108).
- IPCS (International Programme on Chemical Safety) (2009). Principles and methods for the risk assessment of chemicals in food. Geneva: World Health Organization (Environmental Health Criteria 240).
- Ishimatsu S, Kawamoto T, Matsuno K, Kodama Y (1995). Distribution of various nickel compounds in rat organs after oral administration. Biol Trace Elem Res. 49:43–52.
- ISO (International Organization for Standardization) (1986). Water quality: determination of cobalt, nickel, copper, zinc, cadmium and lead flame atomic absorption spectrometric methods. Geneva: ISO (ISO 8288-1986 (E)).
- ISO (International Organization for Standardization) (1996). Water quality: determination of 33 elements by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectroscopy. Geneva: ISO (ISO 11885:1996 (E)).
- Jensen CS, Menné T, Johansen JD (2006). Systemic contact dermatitis after oral exposure to nickel: a review with a modified meta-analysis. Contact Dermatitis. 54:79–86.
- Jensen CS, Menné T, Lisby S, Kristainsen J, Veien NK (2003). Experimental systemic contact dermatitis from nickel: a dose-response study. Contact Dermatitis. 49:124–32.
- Jordan WP, King SE (1979). Nickel feeding in nickel-sensitive patients with hand eczema. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1:506–8.
- Jorhem L, Sundström B (1993). Levels of lead, cadmium, zinc, copper, nickel, chromium, manganese and cobalt in foods on the Swedish market 1983–1990. J Food Compost Anal. 6:223–41.
- Kaaber K, Veien NK, Tjell JC (1978). Low nickel diet in the treatment of patients with chronic nickel dermatitis. Br J Dermatol. 98:197–201.
- Kusaka Y (1993). Occupational diseases caused by exposure to sensitizing metals. Sangyo Igaku. 35:75–87 (in Japanese).
- Lynn S, Yew FH, Hwang JW, Tseng MJ, Jan KY (1994). Glutathione can rescue the inhibitory effects of nickel on DNA ligation and repair synthesis. Carcinogenesis. 15:2811–16.
- MAFF (Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food) (1985). Survey of aluminium, antimony, chromium, cobalt, indium, nickel, thallium and tin in food. London: MAFF (Food Surveillance Paper No. 15).
- Maleki A, Roshani B, Karakani F (2005). Study on the efficiency of the different units for removing metallic ions in Isfahan water treatment plant. J Appl Sci Environ Manag. 9:61–4.
- Martin SF, Merfort I, Thierse HJ (2006). Interactions of chemicals and metal ions with proteins and role for immune responses. Mini Rev Med Chem. 6:247–55.
- Marzouk A, Sunderman FW Jr (1985). Biliary excretion of nickel in rats. Toxicology Lett. 27:65–71.

- McGeer JC, Brix KV, Skeaff JM, DeForest DK, Brigham SI, Adams WJ, et al. (2003). Inverse relationship between bioconcentration factor and exposure concentration for metals: implications for hazard assessment of metals in the aquatic environment. Environ Toxicol Chem. 22(5):1017–37.
- McNeely MD, Nechay MW, Sunderman FW Jr (1972). Measurements of nickel in serum and urine as indices of environmental exposure to nickel. Clin Chem. 18:992–5.
- Morgan LG, Flint GN (1989). Nickel alloys and coatings: release of nickel. In: Maibach HI, Menné T, editors. Nickel and the skin: immunology and toxicology. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press, 45–54.
- Mortz CG, Bindslev-Jensen C, Andersen KE (2013). Nickel allergy from adolescence to adulthood in the TOACS cohort. Contact Dermatitis. 68:348–56.
- Myron DR, Zimmerman TJ, Shuler TR, Klevay LM, Lee DE, Nielsen FH (1978). Intake of nickel and vanadium by humans: a survey of selected diets. Am J Clin Nutr. 31:527–31.
- Ni W, Yang W, Yu J, Li Z, Jin L, Liu J, et al. (2018). Umbilical cord concentrations of selected heavy metals and risk for orofacial clefts. Environ Sci Technol. 52:10787–95.
- Nielsen GD, Andersen O, Jensen M (1993). Toxicokinetics of nickel in mice studied with the gamma-emitting isotope ⁵⁷Ni. Fundam Appl Toxicol. 21:236–43.
- Nielsen GD, Jepsen LV, Jørgensen PJ, Grandjean P, Brandrup F (1990). Nickel-sensitive patients with vesicular hand eczema: oral challenge with a diet naturally high in nickel. Br J Dermatol. 122:299–308.
- Nielsen GD, Søderberg U, Jørgensen PJ, Templeton DM, Rasmussen SN, Andersen KE, et al. (1999). Absorption and retention of nickel from drinking water in relation to food intake and nickel sensitivity. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 154(1):67–75.
- Nixon DE, Moyer TP, Squillace DP, McCarthy JT (1989). Determination of serum nickel by graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry with Zeeman-effect background correction: values in a normal population and a population undergoing dialysis. Analyst. 114:1671–4.
- NTP (National Toxicology Program) (1996) Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of nickel sulfate hexahydrate in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice. Washington, DC: United States Department of Health and Human Services (Technical Report Series No. 454).
- Oakley D, Korte NE (1996). Nickel and chromium in groundwater samples as influenced by well construction and sampling methods. Groundwater Monitoring Review. Winter:93–9.
- Obone E, Chakrabati SK, Bai C, Malick MA, Lamontagne L, Subramanian KS (1999). Toxicity and bioaccumulation of nickel sulfate in Sprague–Dawley rats following 13 weeks of subchronic exposure. J Toxicol Environ Health A. 57(6):379–401.
- OEHHA (Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment) (2012). Nickel reference exposure levels. Nickel and nickel compounds. Nickel oxide. Reference exposure levels (RELs). Sacramento, California: OEHHA.
- Ohashi F, Fukui Y, Takada S, Moriguchi J, Ezaki T, Ikeda M (2006). Reference values for cobalt, copper, manganese, and nickel in urine among women of the general population in Japan. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 80:117–26.

- Ohno K, Ishikawa K, Kurosawa Y, Matsui Y, Matsushita T, Magara Y (2010). Exposure assessment of metal intakes from drinking water relative to those from total diet in Japan. Water Sci Technol. 62(11):2694–701.
- Panzani RC, Schiavino D, Nucera E, Pellegrino S, Fais G, Schinco G, et al. (1995). Oral hyposensitization to nickel allergy: preliminary clinical results. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 107:251–4.
- Pott F, Rippe RM, Roller M, Csicsaky M, Rosenbruch M, Huth F (1992) Carcinogenicity of nickel compounds and nickel alloys in rats by intraperitoneal injection. In: Nieboer E, Nriagu JO, editors. Nickel and human health: current perspectives. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Punsar S, Erämetsä O, Karvonen MJ, Ryhänen A, Hilska P, Vornamo H (1975). Coronary heart disease and drinking water: a search in two Finnish male cohorts for epidemiologic evidence of a water factor. J Chronic Dis. 28:259–87.
- RIVM (Rijkinstitut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieuhygiene) (1994). Attention substances in Dutch environmental policy. Bilthoven: RIVM (National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection) (Report No. 601014).
- RIWA (Association of River Waterworks) (1994). Yearly report: parts A and B. Amsterdam: RIWA.
- Rodriguez RE, Misra M, Diwan BA, Riggs CW, Kasprzak KS (1996). Relative susceptibility of C57BL/6, (C57BL/6×C3H/He)F1, and C3H/He mice to acute toxicity and carcinogenicity of nickel subsulfide. Toxicology. 107:131–40.
- Rosińska A, Dąbrowska L (2016). Enhancement of coagulation process with powdered activated carbon in PCB and heavy metal ions removal from drinking water. Desalin Water Treat. 57:26336–44.
- Rossman TG (1994). Metal mutagenesis. In: Goyer RA, Cherian MG, editors. Toxicology of metals. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 373–406.
- Santucci B, Cristaudo A, Cannistraci C, Picardo M (1988). Nickel sensitivity: effects of prolonged oral intake of the element. Contact Dermatitis. 19:202–5.
- Santucci B, Manna F, Cannistraci C, Cristaudo A, Capparella R, Bolasco S, et al. (1994). Serum and urine concentrations in nickel-sensitive patients after long prolonged oral administration. Contact Dermatitis. 30:97–101.
- Sarkar B (1984). Nickel metabolism. In: Sunderman FW Jr, editor. Nickel in the human environment. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 367–84 (IARC Scientific Publications No. 53).
- Schnuch A, Uter W, Geier J, Gefeller O, IVDK study group (2002). Epidemiology of contact allergy: an estimation of morbidity employing the clinical epidemiology and drug-utilization research (CE-DUR) approach. Contact Dermatitis. 47:32–9.
- Schroeder HA, Mitchener M, Nason AP (1974). Life-term effects of nickel in rats: survival, tumors, interactions with trace elements and tissue levels. J Nutr. 104:239–43.
- Schwenk W (1992). [Nickel transfer from Cr–Ni stainless steel pipework into potable water]. GWF Wasser Abwasser. 133:281–6 (in German with English summary).

- Seco A, Marzal P, Gabaldón C, Ferrer J (1997). Adsorption of heavy metals from aqueous solutions onto activated carbon in single copper and nickel systems and in binary copper—nickel, copper—cadmium and copper—zinc systems. J Chem Technol Biotechnol. 68(1):23–30.
- Severa J, Vyskocil A, Fiala Z, Cizkova M (1995). Distribution of nickel in body fluids and organs of rats chronically exposed to nickel sulphate. Hum Exp Toxicol. 14:955–8.
- Sikora J, Zeromski J (1995). The effects of nickel compounds on mitogen dependent human lymphocyte stimulation. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 8:79–85.
- Silverberg NB, Licht J, Friedler S, Sethi S, Laude TA (2002). Nickel contact hypersensitivity in children. Pediatr Dermatol. 19:110–13.
- Sjövall P, Christensen OB, Möller H (1987). Oral hyposensitization in nickel allergy. J Am Acad Dermatol. 17:774–8.
- SLI (Springborn Laboratories, Inc.) (2000a). A one-generation reproduction range-finding study in rats with nickel sulfate hexahydrate. Prepared by SLI, Spencerville, Ohio, for Nickel Producers Environmental Research Association, Durham, North Carolina (Study No. 3472.3).
- SLI (Springborn Laboratories, Inc.) (2000b). An oral (gavage) two-generation reproduction toxicity study in Sprague—Dawley rats with nickel sulphate hexahydrate. Prepared by SLI, Spencerville, Ohio, for Nickel Producers Environmental Research Association, Durham, North Carolina (Study No. 3472.2).
- Smart GA, Sherlock JC (1987). Nickel in foods and the diet. Food Addit Contam. 4:61–71.
- Smith MK, George EL, Stober JA, Feng HA, Kimmel GL (1993). Perinatal toxicity associated with nickel chloride exposure. Environ Res. 61:200–11.
- Solomons NW, Viteri F, Shuler TR, Nielsen FH (1982). Bioavailability of nickel in man: effects of foods and chemically-defined dietary constituents on the absorption of inorganic nickel. J Nutr 112:39–50.
- Stetter D, Dördlemann O, Overath H (2002). Pilot scale studies on the removal of trace metal contaminations in drinking water treatment using chelating ion-exchange resins. Water Supply. 2(1):25–35.
- Sun X, Jiang Y, Jin S, Liu W, Lin X, Liu H, et al. (2018). Association between prenatal nickel exposure and preterm low birth weight: possible effect of selenium. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 25:25888–95.
- Sunderman FW Jr (1984). Carcinogenicity of nickel compounds in animals. In: Sunderman FW Jr, editor. Nickel in the human environment. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 127–42 (IARC Scientific Publications No. 53).
- Sunderman FW Jr, Shen SK, Mitchell JM, Allpass PR, Damjanov I (1978). Embryotoxicity and fetal toxicity of nickel in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 43:381–90.
- Sunderman FW Jr, Dingle B, Hopfer SM, Swift T (1988). Acute nickel toxicity in electroplating workers who accidentally ingested a solution of nickel sulfate and nickel chloride. Am J Ind Med. 14:257–66.
- Sunderman FW Jr, Hopfer SM, Sweeney KR, Marcus AH, Most BM, Creason J (1989). Nickel absorption and kinetics in human volunteers. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 191:5–11.

- Tallkvist J, Wing AM, Tjälve H (1994). Enhanced intestinal nickel absorption in iron-deficient rats. Pharmacol Toxicol. 75:244–9.
- Templeton DM, Sunderman FW Jr, Herber RF (1994). Tentative reference values for nickel concentrations in human serum, plasma, blood, and urine: evaluation according to the TRACY protocol. Sci Total Env. 148:243–51.
- Templeton DM, Xu SX, Stuhne-Sekalec L (1994). Isotope-specific analysis of Ni by ICP-MS: applications of stable isotope tracers to biokinetic studies. Sci Total Env. 148:253–62.
- TERA (Toxicology Excellence for Risk Assessment) (1999). Toxicological review of soluble nickel salts. Research Triangle Park, North Carolina: TERA.
- Toman R, Massányi P, Adamkovicova M, Lukac N, Cabaj M, Martiniakova M (2012). Quantitative histological analysis of the mouse testis after the long-term administration of nickel in feed. J Env Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng. 47:1272–9.
- US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency) (1994a). Method 200.7, Revision 4.4. Determination of metals and trace elements in water and wastes by inductively coupled plasma—atomic emission spectrometry. Cincinnati, Ohio: Environment Monitoring Systems Laboratories, Office of Research and Development, US EPA.
- US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency) (1994b). Method 200.8, Revision 5.4. Determination of trace elements in waters and wastes by inductively coupled plasma—mass spectrometry. Cincinnati, Ohio: Environment Monitoring Systems Laboratories, Office of Research and Development, US EPA.
- US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency) (1994c). Method 200.9, Revision 2.2. Determination of trace elements by stabilized temperature graphite furnace atomic absorption. Cincinnati, Ohio: Environment Monitoring Systems Laboratories, Office of Research and Development, US EPA.
- US EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency) (2003). Method 200.5. Determination of trace elements in drinking water by axially viewed inductively coupled plasma—atomic emission spectrometry. Cincinnati, Ohio: National Exposure Research Laboratory, Office of Research and Development, US EPA (EPA 600/R-06/115).
- US FDA (United States Food and Drug Administration) (2000). Total Diet Study: statistics on elements results, Revision 1, 1991–1998. Rockville, Maryland: US FDA.
- Vaarama K, Lehto J (2003). Removal of metals and anions from drinking water by ion exchange. Desalination. 155:157–70.
- Vaktskjold A, Talykova LV, Chashchin VP, Nieboer E, Thomassen Y, Odland JO (2006). Genital malformations in newborns of female nickel refinery workers. Scand J Work Environ Health. 32:41–50.
- Vaktskjold A, Talykova LV, Chashchin VP, Odland JO, Nieboer E (2007). Small-for-gestational age newborns of female refinery workers exposed to nickel. Int J Occup Med Environ Health. 20:327–38.
- Vaktskjold A, Talykova LV, Chashchin VP, Odland JO, Nieboer E (2008a). Spontaneous abortions among nickel-exposed female refinery workers. Int J Environ Health Res. 18:99–115.

- Vaktskjold A, Talykova LV, Chashchin VP, Odland JO, Nieboer E (2008b). Maternal nickel exposure and congenital musculoskeletal defects. Am J Ind Med. 51:825–33.
- Veien NK (1989). Nickel dermatitis: its relationship to food and experimental oral challenge. In: Maibach HI, Menné T, editors. Nickel and the skin: immunology and toxicology. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press, 165–78.
- Veien NK, Andersen MR (1986). Nickel in Danish food. Acta Derm Venereol. 66:502-9.
- Veien NK, Menné T (1990). Nickel contact allergy and nickel-restricted diet. Semin Dermatol. 9:197–205.
- Veien NK, Hattel T, Justesen O, Nørholm A (1983). Oral challenge with metal salts. (I) Vesicular patchtest-negative hand eczema. Contact Dermatitis. 9:402–6.
- Velazquez SF, Poirer KA (1994). Problematic risk assessments for drinking water contaminants: selenium, aldicarb, and nickel. In: Wang RGM, editor. Water contamination and health: integration of exposure assessment, toxicology, and risk assessment. New York: Dekker, 467–95 (Environmental Science and Pollution Control Series, Vol. 9).
- Vyskocil A, Viau C, Cizková M (1994). Chronic nephrotoxicity of soluble nickel in rats. Hum Exp Toxicol. 13:689–93.
- Walsh ML, Smith VH, King CM (2010). Type 1 and type IV hypersensitivity to nickel. Australas J Dermatol. 51:285–6.
- Webster JD, Parker TF, Alfrey AC, Smythe WR, Kubo H, Neal G, et al. (1980). Acute nickel intoxication by dialysis. Ann Intern Med. 92:631–3.
- Welté B (2002). Le nickel: 4e partie. Traitement. Techniques, Sciences, Méthodes. 97(5):61–6.
- Whanger PD (1973). Effects of dietary nickel on enzyme activities and mineral contents in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 25:323–31.
- WHO (World Health Organization) (2000). <u>Air quality guidelines, Chapter 6.10, second edition</u>. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- WHO (World Health Organization) (2005). <u>Nickel in drinking-water</u>. Geneva: WHO (WHO/SDE/WSH/05.08/55).
- WHO (World Health Organization) (2007). <u>Nickel in drinking-water</u>. Geneva: WHO (WHO/SDE/WSH/07.08/55).
- Wilhelm M, Wittsiepe J, Seiwert M, Hunken A, Becker K, Conrad A, et al. (2013). Levels and predictors of urinary nickel concentrations of children in Germany: results from the German Environmental Survey on children (GerES IV). Int J Hyg Environ Health. 216:163–9.
- Zaroogian GE, Johnson M (1984). Nickel uptake and loss in the bivalves *Crassostrea virginica* and *Mytilus edulis*. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol. 13:411–18.
- Zemansky GM (1974). Removal of trace metals during conventional water treatment. J Am Water Works Assoc. 66(11):606–9.
- Zhang N, Chen M, Li J, Deng Y, Li SL, Guo YX, et al. (2019). Metal nickel exposure increase the risk of congenital heart defects occurrence in offspring: a case–control study in China.

Medicine (Baltimore). 98:e15352.